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 Summary of Financial Data

 All figures as per IFRS in million EUR 2006 2005 2004

  

Turnover 524.8 657.4 660.0

Operative results (EBIT) –42.8 –34.9 0.3

Consolidated net loss for the year

attributable to MAXDATA AG shareholders –46.5 –39.6 –1.5

Equity 80.5 127.8 167.0

Balance sheet total 214.0 277.1 285.0

Equity ratio 38 % 46 % 59 %

Cash flow 14.2 –26.2 –7.6

Employees 1,178 1,243 1,234

Earnings per share (in EUR) –1.66 –1.41 –0.05

Share price (high/low) (in EUR) 3.33/1.02 5.35/2.52 5.75/2.71
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Individual business hardware for every industry

The company, which was founded in 1987, is among the leading inter-
national IT manufacturers and records a turnover of EUR 525 million. Nearly 
50 percent of turnover is realized outside Germany. With its Belinea monitor 
brand, MAXDATA is the market leader in the business client sector in Germany. 
MAXDATA AG, which is listed in the “Prime Standard“, is ranked among the top 
ten for desktops and servers. 
The company focuses on the corporate customer market using the Belinea and 
MAXDATA brands. It sells across Europe using approximately 10,000 selected 
specialized dealers and system resellers.

>



For the last two decades, the name MAXDATA has been synonymous 
with excellent hardware from Germany. MAXDATA products and Belinea dis-
plays stand out by offering excellent value for the money and are used in many 
industry sectors across Europe. <<

Report for the 2006 business year

>>
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MAXDATA products for 

event management:

Belinea display 2025 S1W

MAXDATA PC FORTUNE 4000 I



To Our Shareholders, Employees, 
and Friends of the Company

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,

The business year 2006 was once again marked by a 

fi erce competition in the IT industry. Sales for hard-

ware products stagnated and prices continued to fall 

drastically. MAXDATA quickly responded to this trend 

and implemented a comprehensive restructuring pro-

gram in March 2006. As a result of these restructuring 

measures, we were able to signifi cantly lower costs, 

to streamline our product portfolio, to improve pur-

chasing conditions, and to strengthen sales.

The Belinea monitor and MAXDATA-brand server 

business developed positively during the last busi-

ness year; however, sales for MAXDATA notebooks 

and personal computers declined despite increased 

efforts in product development and distribution. As a 

result, we did not meet the projected turnover of EUR 

600 million and extended the company‘s losses.

Therefore, both the Management Board and the Su-

pervisory Board agree that further strategic decisions 

must be made to reinforce the measures that were 

implemented in the spring of 2006. We are currently 

working on plans for a strategic reorientation of the 

entire company. It is our goal to make MAXDATA 

stronger and to make it profi table again in the me-

dium-term. 

These plans include creating two independently oper-

ating subsidiaries under MAXDATA AG. One company 

would be responsible for production, logistics and 

service and, in addition to handling internal transac-

tions, would also fulfi ll orders placed by third parties. 

As a result, the utilization of our production plant in 

Würselen would improve signifi cantly. The other com-

pany would be a powerful sales subsidiary for the 

Group and would unify the foreign subsidiaries and 

export activities under one roof. 
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In the future, MAXDATA wants to further strengthen 

its position as a dynamic hardware solution provider 

and is open to any partnerships, joint ventures, and 

third-party arrangements that may further this goal. 

MAXDATA may even expand its product portfolio, par-

ticularly for the Belinea product segment. 

Our company will celebrate its 20th birthday this year. 

With pioneering spirit and entrepreneurial courage, 

MAXDATA has developed into one of the leading hard-

ware manufacturers in Europe. Today, we own one of 

the most modern and fl exible production plants in the 

heart of Europe. Transport distances are short and 

the build-to-order principle allows us to react faster 

to customer demands than our competitors. We can 

quickly fulfi ll individual customer requests while pro-

viding a high level of quality, both for individual orders 

as well as large ones.

The following four factors were particularly impor-

tant for the dynamic growth and market success of 

MAXDATA over the last two decades: 

n Strictly market-driven product portfolio

n  Close relationship with our business customers and 

specialist dealers

n Maximum production fl exibility

n Excellent technical service with personal support

When defi ning MAXDATA’s future strategy, we can 

develop synergies based on these core strengths. 

The employees and Management Board of MAXDATA 

work hard to continue MAXDATA’s success story: with 

a wide range of innovative and reasonably priced hard-

ware products, with improved market and customer 

proximity, and particularly with long-term profi table 

growth.

We would like to thank our employees, business part-

ners, customers, and shareholders for supporting us 

in this endeavor. 

Thomas Stiegler

Spokesman of the Management Board
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MAXDATA Share

Excellence in information management is the key to success in modern 
markets. More than ever, information management depends on the availability 
of customized technologies and solutions. MAXDATA has responded to this 
need with a versatile range of desktop systems, servers, notebooks, and moni-
tors. This is complemented by expert know-how in built-to-order production, 
which allows for highly individualized 
products. <<

>>
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MAXDATA products for 

community institutions:

Belinea display 22W Artistline,

MAXDATA PC FORTUNE 3000 I



The MAXDATA share

MAXDATA is the only publicly-traded computer manu-

facturer that primarily produces the desktops, note-

books, and servers it sells in Germany. This principle is 

a fundamental characteristic of the company. It allows 

for a fl exible production environment where products 

are custom-tailored to the customer’s needs and en-

sures short delivery times and transport distances. 

The company, founded in 1987, adopted a build-to-or-

der system in the early 90s. MAXDATA was one of 

the fi rst IT companies to implement this production 

method and is therefore unrivaled in market expertise; 

however, the company’s result makes it clear that in 

the current market environment, long-term posi-

tive results can not be achieved by only focusing on 

BTO production. MAXDATA responds to this situation 

by consistently implementing measures to reduce 

vertical integration for individual PC and notebook 

products, taking into account the results of a cost-

benefi t analysis.

The group’s own brand of monitors, Belinea, con-

tributes increasingly to MAXDATA‘s overall turnover. 

Belinea has been a market leader in the Western 

European business client sector for several years.

Nine national subsidiaries successfully distribute 

MAXDATA products in various European markets. Fur-

thermore, the group strengthened sales in additional 

European countries during the last business year, 

with a focus on Sweden, Norway, Estonia, Latvia, and 

Turkey. MAXDATA currently supplies products to 16 

countries via foreign distribution partners who act as 

importers and, in coordination with MAXDATA, per-

form sales and marketing functions.

10



2006 stock price performance
MAXDATA was fi rst offered on the Frankfurt Stock Ex-

change on 9 June 1999, and has been listed on the 

Prime Standard stock market segment since 1 Janu-

ary 2003. Listing on the stock exchange forces higher 

transparency requirements consistent with internation-

al standards. The weak market environment for hard-

ware products had a negative impact on MAXDATA’s 

business performance and was mirrored in the stock 

price development for 2006. At the beginning of the 

year, shares were valued at EUR 3.07 per share; by 

24 August 2006, the stock price had dropped to EUR 

1.02 per share. In the following months, the MAXDATA 

stock recovered signifi cantly and closed at EUR 1.63 

per share on 29 December 2006.

Comprehensive investor information
In 2006, the PC industry experienced an overall de-

crease in demand, further price falls, and high-pres-

sure competition. Based on these market conditions, 

it is extremely diffi cult to precisely predict business 

performance. The company therefore continued to 

provide current and comprehensive information on 

its business performance to investors. Transparent 

communication was ensured through ad hoc state-

ments, quarterly reports, and analyst discussions, as 

well as press releases, and interviews. The MAXDATA 

homepage at www.maxdata.com provides investors 

with current and comprehensive information on the 

company’s business performance and new products. 

A detailed report on the past business year and future 

strategy will be issued by the Management Board at 

the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 18 April 2007.

The MAXDATA shareholder structure
The largest shareholder in MAXDATA AG continues to 

be FoMax GmbH. The company holds 47.7 percent of 
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Share portrait 2006

ISIN Code  DE 000 658 130 9

Stock market code number (WKN)  658 130

Earnings per share (Euro)  –1.66

Highest price (Euro)  3.33

Lowest price (Euro)  1.02

Closing price (Euro)  1.63

Number of shares  29 million

the stock. The indirect shareholder in FoMax GmbH is 

Siegfried Kaske, who also holds the position of Chair-

man of the MAXDATA AG Supervisory Board. Com-

pany founder Holger Lampatz holds 20.9 percent of 

MAXDATA stock. 28.0 percent of the stock is owned 

by various holders, and the remaining 3.4 percent is 

held by the company itself.

Solid fi nancial foundation
MAXDATA continues to have solid fi nancial foundation. 

With an equity ratio of 38 percent, the Management 

Board has the freedom to continue to press ahead 

with the restructuring program that was initiated in 

2006 and to further adjust the business model to mar-

ket requirements. The main goal of the restructuring 

program is to grow once again in a profi table manner 

so that the market value of the company’s share will 

rise in the interest of its shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

Information technology serves the purpose to make users more successful. 
Tailor-made to their needs, right from the start. Therefore, when it comes to 
purchasing, implementing, and maintaining IT systems, nothing should be left to 
chance. Quite the contrary, local professionals should be consulted -  profession-
als such as the 10,000 MAXDATA dealers across Europe. Our dealers guarantee 
the highest quality standards and ex-
cellent results. For every industry and 
for every budget. <<

>>



 Editorial    MAXDATA share    Corporate Governance    Group Management Report    Consolidated Financial Statements    Bodies    13

MAXDATA products for 

architects:

MAXDATA Notebook 

PRO 8100 IWS



Effective corporate governance is an essential part of 

MAXDATA AG’s image. This legal and actual organiza-

tional framework for managing and monitoring a com-

pany assists in building comprehensive trust on the part 

of the investors, employees, business partners, and the 

public and is of great importance to MAXDATA AG. 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board here-

by report on corporate governance in accordance with 

Clause 3.10 Sentence 1 of the German Corporate 

Governance Code (in this context) as follows:

On 17 February 2006, the MAXDATA AG Management 

Board and Supervisory Board issued their annual 

statement of compliance with the recommendations 

of the government’s German Corporate Governance 

Code Commission in accordance with Article 161 of 

the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The follow-

ing statement refers in its text to the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code in the 2 June 2005 version and 

contains the explanation of the two deviations from 

the recommendations in the Code:

 ”The recommendations of the government’s German 

Corporate Governance Code have been and will be 

followed with the following exceptions:

The chairing and membership of committees are not 

remunerated separately (Clause 5.4.5 Para. 1 Sen-

tence 3). Because the essential tasks are undertaken 

jointly by the members of the Supervisory Board, the 

regulation on remunerating the chairing and member-

ship of committees would currently not be appropri-

ate.

The members of the Supervisory Board do not re-

ceive performance-based remuneration (Clause 5.4.5  

Para. 2 Sentence 1). Each Supervisory Board member 

receives fi xed remuneration totaling EUR 30,000. The 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives twice 

this amount and the Deputy Chairman receives one 

and one half times this amount. ”

On 20 September 2006, the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board deliberated intensely on the 

Code changes enacted by the Government Commis-

sion on 12 June 2006. Following the discussion of the 

current version of the Code and its impact, particularly 

on the Annual Report and the statement of compli-

ance to be issued in 2007, the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board declared they would comply 

with all of the modifi ed and newly introduced recom-

mendations. On 27 February 2007, the statement of 

compliance in accordance with Article 161 of the AktG 

was issued on the basis of these deliberations. This 

was published on MAXDATA’s website. MAXDATA AG 

will make statements on compliance to the Code that 

are no longer current available on its website for fi ve 

years.

Management Board remuneration
Remuneration of Management Board members is 

comprised of two components, the  “annual basic 

salary ” and the  ”bonus. ” Goals for profi t-based bo-

nuses for the following year are set annually for the 

MAXDATA AG Management Board members. The as-

sessment is carried out by the Supervisory Board’s 

human resources committee, which takes into ac-

count quantitative and qualitative criteria. The calcula-

tion of the goal attained and the amount of the bo-

nus is made on the basis of the corresponding annual 

profi t or loss. Payout is made along with the normal 

monthly salary payment or at the time when the an-

nual company profi t or loss is determined. Clause 28 

of the appendix to the consolidated fi nancial state-

ments contains more information on the remunera-

tion of Management Board members.

In connection with the stock option plan from 1999, 

Management Board member Thomas Stiegler re-

ceived 3,000 option rights. Because the price of 

MAXDATA shares underlying the options plan does 

not currently create enhancement of value, the stock 

options are not valued as intended in the German Cor-

porate Governance Code (Clause 4.2.3 Para. 3, sen-

tence 2).
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Remuneration of the Supervisory Board members
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board members 

is governed by Article 9.5 of the articles of association 

and contains no variable components.

Share ownership and share transactions
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board 

own the following stock and options:

In accordance with Article 15a of the Securities Trad-

ing Act, members of the MAXDATA AG Management 

Board and Supervisory Board must report the acqui-

sition or sale of MAXDATA AG securities as well as 

those persons with whom they have a close relation-

ship and other employees that are entrusted with 

management responsibilities. As of 31 December 

2006, MAXDATA AG received no notifi cations of this 

type.

 Supervisory Board

Siegfried Kaske, Chairman  KEUR 60

Klaus Wiegandt, Deputy Chairman

(as of 26 April 2006) KEUR 40

Dr. Matthias Händle (as of 26 April 2006) KEUR 21

Claas Kleyboldt KEUR 30

Hans Reischl KEUR 30

Bernhard Scholtes KEUR 30

Shares held by Number of options Number of shares

executive bodies

Management Board  

Reinhard Blunck - 10

Thomas Stiegler 3,000 637

Supervisory Board  

Siegfried Kaske - 13,828,800

  (indirectly)

Klaus Wiegandt - -

Dr. Matthias Händle - -

Claas Kleyboldt - 8,258

Hans Reischl - -

Bernhard Scholtes - -
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Group Management Report for the Business Year 2006

16

MAXDATA is a German IT company with an international reputation. Nearly 
half of MAXDATA‘s total turnover of EUR 525 million is generated abroad. The 
monitor brand Belinea is a market leader in the Western European business 
client sector, while MAXDATA desktop systems, servers, and notebooks are 
industry-leading hardware products. The international character of the compa-
ny is undeniable: With nine foreign subsidiaries and distribution partners in 16 
countries, MAXDATA AG will continue to show its colors in Europe. <<

>>
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Economy, market, and competition
The 2006 business year was yet another extremely 

diffi cult year for MAXDATA. The boom in the global 

economy continued in 2006 but lost some of its mo-

mentum during the course of the year. This can mostly 

be attributed to the slowdown of economic dynamics 

in the USA, and, to some degree, in Japan as well. 

An accelerated economic upswing in the Euro zone 

and Great Britain was not enough to offset this slow-

down. The newly industrialized countries, in particular 

China, continued to post a strong increase in produc-

tion. The economic boom in Germany which broad-

ened and gained momentum in 2006 will continue 

in 2007. Aside from strong export development, the 

boom is mostly a result of strong investment activity, 

particularly equipment investments, which will further 

expand due to successful consolidations and positive 

corporate earnings. However, the VAT increase at the 

beginning of 2007, which, in particular, negatively af-

fects private consumption, is expected to temporar-

ily slow down economic growth. Therefore, based 

on a weak initial situation and the effects of the eco-

nomic slow-down in the USA, the expected economic 

growth of 1.4 percent will be lower than that of the 

previous year. 

While the software and service sectors of the infor-

mation and communication technology market have 

shown particularly strong growth in the European 

Union, the BITKOM industry association expects sales 

in the hardware sector to fall signifi cantly. Market re-

searchers cite business and consumer market satura-

tion as well as a fi erce price war between hardware 

manufacturers, which has been going on for a few 

years now, as the key drivers for the declining sales.

Business and general conditions
MAXDATA’s main target group comprises businesses 

in every industry and of every size, as well as govern-

mental agencies, associations, and institutions. The 

MAXDATA business model is primarily based on the 

following principles:

n  Focus on business clientele: MAXDATA’s products 

and services are designed to meet the requirements 

of commercial customers. For this market, the built-

to-order production of computer systems plays an 

important role. After orders are received, desktop 

PCs, notebooks, and servers are ‘custom tailored’ 

to the customers’ requirements and assembled at 

MAXDATA‘s own modern production plant in Würse-

len.

n  Indirect sales: MAXDATA sells its products via a 

large network of qualifi ed dealers and distributors. 

The range of services offered by these sales part-

ners includes consulting and hardware implementa-

tion as well as improving existing IT systems and 

maintenance and repair services.

n  Two-brand strategy: MAXDATA is represented in the 

market with two completely independent brands: 

MAXDATA for desktop computers, notebooks, and 

servers as well as Belinea for monitors.

Business sectors
MAXDATA classifi es its strategic core business in 

three segments, distributed across the two brands, 

Belinea and MAXDATA.

Belinea monitors
Belinea brand monitors are assembled according to 

MAXDATA specifi cations by third-party manufactur-

ers, who comply with the highest quality standards, 

and are then sold by MAXDATA. In Germany, 18 per-

cent of the monitors sold in the business client sector 

bear the Belinea label. This makes Belinea the mar-

ket leader in this sector – as it has been for 10 years. 

The situation is very similar in Austria with a share 

of 20 percent of the business market. In Spain, Po-

land, France, and Switzerland, Belinea has managed 

to achieve market shares in the business client sector 

of between 7 and 11 percent.

MAXDATA PC systems
The MAXDATA PC systems segment includes assem-

bly and sales of desktop PCs and notebooks. These 

product groups were integrated into one segment as 

the business processes are similar. The business seg-

ment has maintained a 6 percent share of the busi-

ness client sector in the DACH region (Germany, Aus-

tria, and Switzerland).
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MAXDATA server systems
In addition to the assembly and sale of servers, the 

server segment is also responsible for conducting 

training seminars. The goal in training the dealers is 

to broaden the customer base. This service has also 

contributed to increasing MAXDATA’s market share of 

the business client sector in the DACH region to 4 

percent.

The most state-of-the-art built-to-order 
system in Europe
Most of MAXDATA products are produced according 

to the built-to-order principle. This means that after or-

ders are received, desktop PCs, notebooks, and serv-

ers are “custom tailored” to the customers’ require-

ments. This principle allows MAXDATA a great amount 

of fl exibility in how it responds to client requests and 

also enables it to guarantee short delivery periods. 

Group structure
MAXDATA has been represented directly in eight Eu-

ropean markets outside of Germany since the 2003 

business year. MAXDATA sells Belinea monitors and 

MAXDATA PC systems through distribution partners 

in 16 other European countries, focusing on Northern 

and Eastern Europe.

 * Indirect interest

 Group structure with the main companies

MAXDATA AG, Marl

MAXDATA

Computer

GmbH

 Vienna,

Austria

MAXDATA

Computer

AG

 Baar,

Switzerland

MAXDATA

UK

Ltd.

 Bracknell,

U.K.

MAXDATA

Benelux

B.V.

 Etten-Leur,

Netherlands

MAXDATA

S.A.R.L.

 Lisses,

France

MAXDATA

Iberia S.L.

 Madrid,

Spain

MAXDATA

Italia

S.r.l.*

 Assago,

Italy

MAXDATA

Sp. z o.o.

 Warsaw,

Poland

ASIG

Quality

Services

GmbH

 Augsburg,

Germany

100%

100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 98%

2%

74%

MAXDATA

Computer

GmbH

Marl,

Germany

100%

MAXDATA

International GmbH

Marl

MAXDATA

Systeme GmbH

Würselen
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Key fi gures
In addition to the EBIT (earnings before interest and 

taxes) indicator, which is used to control production, 

service, and administrative companies, MAXDATA 

also uses the gross profi t and OPEX (operating ex-

penditure) indicators for the sales companies. The key 

fi gure of gross profi t in particular is broken down by 

product group at the operating level into the sub-cat-

egories of average price and average margin. 

Turnover and sales development
Compared to the previous year, MAXDATA suffered 

sales losses in nearly all product groups. Notebook 

sales decreased by 25.3 percent, desktop sales by 

28.0 percent, and overall monitor sales by 3.8 per-

cent. 

In the monitor sector, a slight increase in sales of TFT 

fl at screens, which amounted to 1.8 percent, was 

overshadowed by the scheduled discontinuation of 

CRT monitor sales. Server sales increased by 0.3 per-

cent.

In the business-to-business sector, which is very im-

portant for MAXDATA, the corporate group retained 

its market position in Germany at the previous year‘s 

level for both PC systems and monitors.

 However, the tremendous price pressure, particularly 

in the TFT sector, resulted in a turnover of EUR 524.8 

million, which is lower than in the previous year (pre-

vious year: EUR 657.4 million) despite a welcome in-

crease in sales, and this in turn meant that the target 

set for turnover (EUR 600 million) was missed.

20

Million EUR  2003 2004  2005  2006

Turnover 654.9 660.0 657.4 524.8

Cost of material –556.5 –565.9 –570.4 –452.0

Gross profi t 98.4 94.1 87.0 72.8

OPEX –113.4 –93.8 –121.9 –115.6

EBIT –15.0 0.3 –34.9 –42.8

Gross profi t margin 15.0 % 14.3 % 13.2 % 13.9 %

 Number  of units sold   2006  2005   Change

 CRT monitors  3,763 83,077 –95.5 %

 TFT fl at screens  1,386,252 1,361,811 1.8 %

 Belinea monitors  1,390,015 1,444,888 –3.8 %

 Desktop systems  294,802 409,381 –28.0 %

 Notebooks  71,637 95,960 –25.3 %

 MAXDATA PC systems  366,439 505,341 –27.5 %

MAXDATA  Server systems  15,111 15,073 0.3 %



Foreign turnover increased in 2006 to a 47.6 percent 

share of total turnover (previous year: 45.2 percent), 

or EUR 249.6 million (previous year: EUR 297.2 mil-

lion). Domestic turnover declined accordingly to 52.4 

percent (previous year: 54.8 percent) or EUR 275.2 

million (previous year: EUR 360.2 million). 

Of the total hardware turnover, 43.8 percent is attrib-

uted to MAXDATA computer systems (desktop PCs, 

notebooks, and servers), the Belinea monitor busi-

ness segment contributed 46.7 percent, and other 

products (peripheral devices, software, and services) 

9.5 percent. 

Profi t situation
A slight increase in gross profi t margin accompanied 

by lower turnover than in the previous year, one-off 

expenditure related to restructuring to reinforce sales 

and business processes, as well as extraordinary le-

gal expenses resulted in an EBIT of EUR –42.8 mil-

lion, following an EBIT of EUR –34.9 million in the 

previous year.

Due to the fact that turnover and profi ts were below 

expectations for the fi rst two months of the business 

year, a comprehensive restructuring program was 

initiated. The purpose of this measure is to achieve 

positive profi ts and cash fl ows for the long-term by 

adjusting cost structures and optimizing procurement 

while, at the same time, stabilizing turnover at a lower 

level. In addition to optimizing procurement and dis-

tribution processes, as well as increasing cost con-

trol, the restructuring program also calls for the loss 

of jobs, both in Germany and abroad. A target fi gure 

of 300 job cuts was planned. This will lead to savings 

totaling EUR 30 million per year. The restructuring pro-

gram had an adverse effect on the EBIT totaling EUR 5.9 

million for the 2006 business year. A large portion of the 

expected yearly cost savings stemming from the newly 

implemented restructuring measures cannot be realized 

until the 2007 business year.

Furthermore, an extraordinary item totaling EUR –4.5 

million, related to a legal dispute with a supplier which 

was unfavorably ruled for MAXDATA, is included in the 

EBIT for this business year.

After the gross profi t margin reached 13.2 percent in 

2005, it rose to 13.9 percent across all product groups 

in 2006. The decline of the overall gross revenue by 

EUR 14.2 million is mainly attributable to competitors’ 

increasingly aggressive pricing policies and the sus-

tained market weakness which resulted in decreased 

turnover. The profi t forecast of EUR –25 million, which 

was budgeted for the 2006 business year, was there-

fore signifi cantly missed. The negative EBIT consists 

of the following components:

EUR 4.5 million legal dispute

EUR 5.9 million restructuring costs

EUR 32.4 million operating loss

Taking into account a fi nancial result totaling KEUR 

–385 compared to KEUR 559 from the previous year, 

and current income taxes that include a value adjust-

ment for deferred taxes, the consolidated net loss 

was EUR –46.5 million, following a consolidated net 

loss of EUR –39.3 million in the previous year. Overall, 

this equates to an operating loss of EUR –1.66 per 

share, after a loss of EUR –1.41 per share in 2005.

Financial position
Due to its equity ratio of 37.6 percent (previous year: 

46.1 percent), the group possesses a solid fi nancial 

situation that provides a large degree of fi nancial in-

dependence. The strong capital structure is also sup-

ported by the long-term portion of provisions.
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The ratio of equity capital to fi xed assets totaling 163.8 

percent (previous year: 249.5 percent) also demon-

strates a good balance sheet capital ratio.

Compared to the previous year, fi xed assets fell by 

EUR 2.1 million to EUR 49.1 million. Based on budgets 

for the coming two years and the associated results 

anticipated, the deferred tax asset was fully adjusted 

by EUR 2.3 million.

Stocks were decreased as planned from EUR 86.6 

million in the previous year to EUR 66.3 million based 

on improved inventory management.

Trade receivables as of 31 December 2006 decreased 

by EUR 69.1 million to EUR 30.9 million as compared 

to the previous year. This development can be attrib-

uted to a lower turnover level, as well as the sale of 

receivables within the framework of a factoring agree-

ment. Cash fl ow from operating activities was EUR 

17.6 million (previous year:  EUR –20.8 million). 

Liquid funds increased from EUR 27.1 million to EUR 

41.1 million. The systematic and continuous improve-

ment of inventory management throughout 2006, as 

well as the seasonal utilization of a factoring line, led 

to this increase. 

In its operating activities and the resulting fi nancial ac-

tivities, MAXDATA is exposed to market price changes 

for currencies and interest rates. To limit these risks, 

MAXDATA uses systematic fi nancial and risk manage-

ment. In doing so, the normal market derivative in-

struments are used. These derivatives are contracted 

with fi nancial institutions whose creditworthiness 

MAXDATA monitors continuously. 

Investments and acquisitions
In the business year just fi nished, MAXDATA invested 

EUR 5.1 million. As in 2005, the investment focus 

was chiefl y on replacement purchases for production 

and IT infrastructures. MAXDATA also acquired addi-

tional shares in ASIG Quality Services GmbH, Augs-

burg, during that period. The shares in the company 

increased correspondingly from 52 percent to 74 per-

cent. Aside from the usual replacement acquisitions, 

no extensive investments are planned for 2007.

In October 2006, MAXDATA planned entry to the pri-

vate customer sector. For this purpose, MAXDATA 

considered the acquisition of Yakumo GmbH and with 

that the brand of the same name. After an in-depth 

review, MAXDATA came to the conclusion that the 

acquisition of Yakumo would not lead to the expected 

synergy effects and that a takeover would tie up need-

ed resources. Therefore, MAXDATA decided not to go 

ahead with the planned acquisition.

Human resources
The average number of employees in the MAXDATA 

corporate group in 2006 was 1,178 (previous year:  

1,243). The number of employees outside of Germany 

remained almost unchanged at 228 employees (previ-

ous year: 235).

The focus for the human resources department in 

2006 was the reorganization and the implementation 

of group-wide cost saving measures. As a result, 234 

jobs were lost in Germany and abroad during the year 

under review. These layoffs were mostly carried out in 

a socially acceptable manner. This is clearly shown by 

the number of wrongful dismissal suits fi led. Out of a 

total of 155 terminations, only 5.2 percent of affected 

employees fi led wrongful dismissal suits. Further-

more, employees were very accepting of the transfer 

company which was agreed upon by the Works Coun-

cil and the Management Board in connection with the 

layoffs at MAXDATA Systeme GmbH. Out of 116 af-

fected employees, 94 decided to take advantage of 

the transfer offer as of 1 October 2006. These employ-

ees will continue to be employed for up to 12 months 

based on their respective length of employment with 

the company.

With regard to employee development, 112 training 

seminars with 323 participants were held during the 

past business year. Sales skills were a big focus of the 

training seminars (23 training days). 

Main features of Management Board remuneration
Management Board compensation is comprised of 

the basic annual salary plus a profi t-based bonus. 

Goals for profi t-based bonuses for the following year 

are set annually for the Management Board. The as-
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sessment is carried out by the Supervisory Board’s 

Human Resources Committee based on quantitative 

and qualitative criteria. Ascertaining whether a goal 

has been reached and the amount of profi t sharing is 

done along with and based on determination of an-

nual profi t or loss. Payment is made along with the 

regular monthly salary payment in the month the an-

nual fi nancial statement is established. A bonus was 

not paid for the 2005 business year.

In connection with the stock option plan from 1999, 

Management Board spokesman Thomas Stiegler 

received 3,000 option rights. Because the price of 

MAXDATA shares underlying the option plan does not 

currently create enhancement of value, the stock op-

tions are not valued.

Information and comments provided in 
accordance with Article 315 Para. 4 of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB)
MAXDATA AG’s capital stock is made up of 29,000,000 

ordinary bearer shares with a proportional sum of the 

capital stock of EUR 1.00 per share. As of the balance 

sheet date, MAXDATA holds 1,000,000 of its own 

shares (previous year: 1,000,000 shares) with no vot-

ing rights. The appointment of the Management Board 

is governed by Articles 84 et seq. of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG) and its withdrawal by Article 

84 Para. 3 of the AktG. As required by the articles of 

association the MAXDATA AG Management Board 

consists of at least two members. Notwithstanding 

this, the Supervisory Board determines the number 

of Management Board members. Amendments to 

the Articles of Association are governed by Part 6 of 

the AktG. In accordance with the Articles of Asso-

ciation, the Supervisory Board is authorized to make 

amendments to the Articles of Association that only 

affect the wording thereof. The Supervisory Board is 

also authorized to modify the Articles of Association 

to refl ect a change in capital stock.

At the annual general meeting of MAXDATA AG on 

27 May 1999, the shareholders approved a condi-

tional increase in the share capital of MAXDATA AG 

of up to KEUR 480 (contingent capital I) by issue of 

up to 480,000 new no-par-value bearer shares. This 

conditional increase in capital serves to ensure the 

subscription rights of employees, members of the 

management board of MAXDATA AG, its subsidiaries, 

as well as of companies affi liated with MAXDATA AG 

within the meaning of Article 15 et seq. of the German 

Stock Corporation Law (AktG) in Switzerland, Austria, 

the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands in accord-

ance with the conditions set in the authorizing resolu-

tion of the annual general meeting of 27 May 1999.

The conditional increase in capital may only be under-

taken to the extent that those entitled to subscription 

rights within the framework of the employee share 

option plan exercise their subscription rights. The new 

shares carry profi t participation rights from the be-

ginning of the business year in which they originate 

through the exercise of subscription rights.

Share option plan
MAXDATA issued a share option plan in 1999 when its 

IPO occurred. This share option plan allowed options 

to be granted to employees and members of the man-

agement board of MAXDATA AG and its subsidiaries 

for no consideration previous to 31 December 2000 

entitling bearers to purchase a total of 480,000 bearer 

shares pursuant to the authorization passed by resolu-

tion of the annual general meeting on 27 May 1999. 

The exercise price for each option was fi xed at EUR 

31 in agreement with the price of MAXDATA shares 

at their fi rst issue. The options are only exercisable 

under the precondition that the market price of the 

MAXDATA share has on the average increased by at 

least 1 percentage point per month as against the is-

sue price, i.e. on average at least 12 percentage points 

per year as against the issue price. This means that the 

share price would have had to have increased by 36 

percentage points as against its price at fi rst issue by 

9 June 2002 – the fi rst possible date the fi rst tranche 

(30 percent of the options) could be exercised. If the 

options are not exercisable within the vesting period 

(three years following the fi rst trading day), as the in-

crease in value of the share did not occur as provided, 

the options will become exercisable at a later stage 

within the life of the options (which expires on 8 June 

2009), if the market price of the shares has increased 

on average by at least 1 percentage point per month. 
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If the market price of the MAXDATA share does not 

reach the increase required by an average of 12 per-

centage points per year on the fi rst possible exercise 

dates, the options of the second and third tranche will 

become exercisable at the date on which the average 

market price of the MAXDATA share on the last 30 

trading days has reached the market price as adjusted 

correspondingly.

The market price within the meaning of the foregoing 

is the average market price of the MAXDATA share 

calculated on the basis of the closing prices on the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the last 30 trading days 

of each 12 month period measured on the calendar 

day on which the shares were fi rst issued. If the mar-

ket price increases by the required amount, the op-

tions which vest in this way will remain exercisable 

until the expiry of the life of the option, even if the 

market price were to decrease again subsequently. 

As of 31 December 2005, 61,384 options to pur-

chase 61,384 shares had been granted. Owing to em-

ployee turnover, the number of options outstanding 

has fallen to 47,884 as of 31 December 2006. Under 

the accounting policy adopted by the Group no com-

pensation expense is recognized under the share op-

tion plan.

In accordance with legal regulations, Mr. Holger Lam-

patz informed MAXDATA AG in April 2002 that he 

currently holds 20.88 percent of the voting rights in 

MAXDATA AG. 

FoMax GmbH, Langenburg, made it known in Novem-

ber 2004 that it currently holds 47.67 percent of the 

voting rights in MAXDATA AG. At the same time, Mr. 

Siegfried Kaske announced that the voting rights held 

by FoMax GmbH are attributed to him.

Events after the balance sheet date
No signifi cant events occurred after the balace sheet 

date.

Risk management
During the reporting year, the risk management sys-

tem was adjusted to the changing conditions. In co-

operation between the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board on the basis of Corporate Govern-

ance and the Compliance Statement of 17 February 

2006, risks are identifi ed with suitable instruments, 

and measures to minimize and avoid these risks are 

decided. 

This risk management system is used to determine, 

document, and assess risks within the individual busi-

ness segments. Risks jeopardizing the viability of the 

company are made transparent on the one hand, but 

additionally the foundation is also laid for the compa-

ny to be able to recognize and take advantage of the 

resulting opportunities in good time. An overall risk 

evaluation shows that the corporate group is mostly 

affected by market risks over which it has very limited 

control. These risks particularly include the follow-

ing: macro-economic price and volume fl uctuations 

and dependency on the development of important 

customers and industry sectors. A continual risk for 

MAXDATA is the ongoing decline in prices in the mon-

itor and computer market, which can only be offset 

by new technological developments. If these new de-

velopments are delayed, selling prices might fall even 

farther than expected. Overall, the service processes 

are controlled well and therefore carry a lower risk. 

All signifi cant and insurable risks and dangers are cov-

ered by a broad and effective insurance policy portfolio.

Business model risks

Competitive risks
With its strategy of focusing on corporate clientele, 

the two-brand strategy, and on indirect sales struc-

tures, MAXDATA has deliberately set its focal points 

and made its priorities evident. Substantial risks af-

fecting the IT sector are mainly excess capacities 

and the fact that it is extremely diffi cult for com-

panies to differentiate themselves in this market, 

which leads to high-pressure competition. MAXDATA 

monitors the market situation closely and responds 

to changes by adjusting corporate structures and 

processes.
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Procurement risks
The company is substantially dependent on suppliers 

for the procurement of components and semi-fi nished 

products. Bringing third parties into the process cre-

ates risks such as quality issues, unexpected delivery 

problems, or unforeseen price increases. Additionally, 

undesired dependencies can arise from the world-

wide relationships to suppliers.

The MAXDATA group predominantly purchases in the 

Asian market. With the help of a supplier controlling 

system, MAXDATA will continue to optimize its sup-

plier relationships. Using carefully selected suppliers, 

MAXDATA has a collection of long-term supplier rela-

tionships that is continuously supplemented by new 

relationships to ensure a balanced supplier portfolio. 

A thorough and experienced product management 

team and an international purchasing offi ce which is 

in the course of formation in Taiwan preserve and pro-

tect MAXDATA’s access to relevant technology. The 

team should balance trends found in the procurement 

market with the wishes and needs of corporate cus-

tomers.

Quality risks
The company consistently pursues a strict demand 

for high quality, operates an intense quality assurance 

program in accordance with DIN EN ISO 9001:2000 

within the scope of the existing and certifi ed qual-

ity management system, and applies special testing 

methods before shipping the products out to the 

customer. In this way, the company achieves a high 

degree of customer satisfaction. In connection with 

the supplier portfolio, the newly imposed contractual 

terms must be emphasized, in particular with regard 

to the quality standards. 

Currency risks
The currency risks that MAXDATA faces as the result 

of sales costs being invoiced primarily in US dollars 

while turnover is primarily invoiced in euros are held 

in check by means of a coordinated currency hedg-

ing strategy. MAXDATA is further confronted with 

exchange rate fl uctuations in the Swiss, British, and 

Polish markets. MAXDATA prepares for these risks 

using hedge transactions adjusted to the average 

volumes and terms. Common market fi nancial instru-

ments are used, including in particular currency swaps 

for the purchase or sale of foreign currency.

Inventory risks
In the fast-paced IT sector, it is highly important to 

keep inventories low and inventory turnover ratios 

high. Additionally, this task is faced with an explosive 

challenge in the form of the constant drop in prices 

of semi-fi nished and end products. Active inventory 

management, continuous review of warehouse inven-

tories, and constant observance of component sup-

plies are essential elements of the early risk detection 

system in this area. 

Accounts receivable risks
Rising incidents of bankruptcy in Germany and Eu-

rope have increased the importance of limiting the 

risk of loss through bad debt. MAXDATA is success-

fully managing its accounts receivable by using a 

continuous commercial credit system and a moni-

tored approval and control process. This is supple-

mented through close and confi dent cooperation with 

credit insurers. Accounts receivable management at 

MAXDATA is very strict and works with a stringent 

internal rating system. These measures ensure a con-

sistently low default rate. Furthermore, the default 

risk at MAXDATA is reduced based on the sale of re-

ceivables (real factoring).

Liquidity risks
MAXDATA monitors and controls liquidity risks with 

the objective of ensuring that the Group is solvent at 

all times without impairing the Group’s operations. 

MAXDATA pursues a fi nancial policy that provides 

extensive fi nancial fl exibility and access to short- and 

long-term fi nancing sources. The daily bundling of 

Europe-wide liquid funds is an essential component 

in guaranteeing the ability to make payments at any 

time. Additionally, MAXDATA utilizes a factoring line 

in order to cover seasonal peak demands for liquid 

funds.
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Legal risks
As a manufacturer and supplier of personal comput-

ers, MAXDATA is exposed to the risk that utilization 

fees for previously delivered PCs may be imposed 

and may have to be paid by MAXDATA. In a test case 

against a competitor, the Verwertungsgesellschaft 

Wort claims a fl at-fee of EUR 30.00 per PC. This case 

is pending with the Federal Court of Justice, the court 

of last instance. Furthermore, the Zentralstelle für 

private Überspielungsrechte (ZPÜ) fi led a complaint 

against approximately 20 manufacturers and dealers 

of personal computers, demanding the payment of an 

additional fl at-rate copyright device levy of EUR 18.42 

for every PC sold. As in the previous year, MAXDATA 

addressed these risks and made adequate provisions 

in the consolidated fi nancial statements. If, as a result 

of the ongoing legal disputes, subsequently assessed 

copyright fees should exceed the reserved amounts, 

the operating profi t could be impacted negatively. 

Please refer to the notes to the consolidated fi nancial 

statements for the risk quantifi cation.

Currently, there are no other pending court or arbitrary 

proceedings against MAXDATA that could signifi cantly 

infl uence the Group result.

Information technology risks
In the last few years, the importance of the constant 

availability of hardware and software for processing 

company transactions has increased even further. 

Due to external and internal infl uences, this availabil-

ity is subject to potential risks. MAXDATA takes this 

into account by constantly monitoring and adjusting 

the networks and systems to changing conditions.

Risks in the area of human resources
With the help of effi cient personnel management, 

MAXDATA ensures that in all segments, motivated 

employees are promoted and employed in accordance 

with their strengths and abilities. While conducting job 

cuts during the last business year, MAXDATA was ex-

tremely careful to ensure that all business units re-

main fully functional and that further company growth 

is not impeded.

Process and communications risks
MAXDATA continuously reviews all processes for ef-

fi ciency and transparency, limiting the risk of gaps in 

information for decision-makers. In this regard, com-

munications that are adapted to the current situation 

both within and between company departments are 

also of great importance.

Forecast/Outlook
The World Bank forecasts growth of 4.5 percent for 

the global economy in 2007. According to experts, 

global economic growth has reached a turning point 

and a slow-down is anticipated. This can mostly be at-

tributed to the economic situation in the USA. How-

ever, according to forecasts from the World Bank, the 

newly industrialized countries will remain the major 

driving forces of the global economy. 

In the Euro zone, much slower growth is anticipated. 

Based on this assumption, economic growth of 2.2 

percent is expected. The devaluation of the dollar and 

currencies that are linked to it will most likely lower 

the competitiveness of products from the Euro zone. 

In Germany, the economic upturn, which is primarily 

driven by exports and investments, will continue in 

2007. However, the speed of growth is expected to 

slow down signifi cantly, at least temporarily. This can 

mostly be attributed to the rise in VAT and the expect-

ed excess supply due to sales that were anticipated 

in 2006. Overall gross domestic product will rise by 

1.4 percent.

Large companies will invest less in IT in 2007 than 

originally expected. According to US market research 

analysts, companies will increasingly focus on ensur-

ing that their IT systems support their core business 

and on optimizing IT-related expenses. 

Market researchers expect that global IT spending 

will only increase by 5 percent in 2007 (3 percent less 

than in the previous year). This decline in spending 

for hardware and software can mostly be attributed 

to the USA. The slowdown in the biggest market for 
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This management report contains statements that 

relate to the future development of the MAXDATA 

group and its companies as well as to economic de-

velopments. These statements present opinions that 

MAXDATA has formed on the basis of all the informa-

tion available at the present time. Should these as-

sumptions not be correct or should further risks arise, 

actual results may differ from the results currently an-

ticipated. MAXDATA therefore cannot offer any guar-

antee for these statements.

Marl, 27 February 2007

Thomas Stiegler             Reinhard Blunck

IT products and services world-wide has a substan-

tial effect. In the information technology and telecom-

munications sectors, growth of 4 percent is expected 

for the Western European market. An increase of 4 

percent for computers, which is the relevant fi eld for 

MAXDATA, is also being forecasted for 2007.

In line with the restructuring program that was initi-

ated in 2006, the company has implemented various 

measures to resolve the dissatisfactory situation that 

was experienced in 2006. These efforts are aimed at 

improving profi tability, optimizing product and pro-

cess quality, as well as stabilizing turnover for the 

2007 business year. Restructuring measures which 

were initiated in 2006 will lead to cost savings and an 

improvement in the profi t situation for 2007. The main 

goal is to strengthen the company’s position so that it 

can become profi table again in the medium term.

MAXDATA will systematically develop the potentials 

of the sales and production company. These efforts 

include a strategic reorientation which will allow the 

business units a higher degree of autonomy. The Man-

agement Board expects that this reorientation will re-

sult in a sustained improvement of the competitive 

position of the company.

With regard to expected sales volumes, the company 

is anticipating moderate growth across all segments. 

There is believed to be particular sales potential for 

notebooks and monitors.

Planned investments consist of replacement acquisi-

tions that can be fi nanced from cash fl ow from ongo-

ing operating activities. 
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The competition in the IT sector is fi erce and requires rigorous decision-
making. Therefore, MAXDATA initiated an extensive restructuring program in 
the past business year. This program included drastic cost-saving measures, as 
well as a signifi cant expansion of sales activities. Positive effects from these 
measures are expected to become evident in the current year. <<

>>
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 Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2006

 Assets  Notes 2006 2005

   KEUR KEUR

 Long-term capital

 Intangible assets (5)

  Trademarks, licenses and software  1,904  4,458

  Goodwill  5,662 2,166

  Payments on account  304 0

   7,870 6,624

 Property, plant and equipment (6)

  Land and buildings  35,435 37,372

  Machinery and equipment  2,728 2,791

  Other equipment, furniture and fixtures  2,871 4,209

  Construction in progress and payments on account  41 3

   41,075 44,375

Investments in associates (7) 151 138

  Loans  33 65

 Deferred taxes (22) 66 2,388

   49,195 53,590

 Short-term capital

 Inventories (8)

  Raw materials and supplies  29,798 43,020

  Work in progress  175 127

  Finished goods and purchased goods  36,331 43,659

   66,304 86,806

 Receivables and other assets

  Trade receivables (9) 30,896 99,987

  – thereof due from associates KEUR 5 (2005: KEUR 2)

  Other assets (10) 24,515 7,230

  Derivative financial instruments (25) 145 535

  Current tax assets  1,868 1,913

   57,424 109,665

  Cash and cash equivalents (11) 41,125 27,080

   164,853 223,551

   214,048 277,141



 Equity and liabilities  Notes 2006 2005

   KEUR KEUR

 Equity

MAXDATA AG shareholders’ interest

  Subscribed capital (12) 29,000 29,000

  Capital reserve (13) 145,660 145,660

  Accumulated other comprehensive income  –169 136

 Accumulated loss (13) –84,745 –38,235

  Own shares  –9,270 –9,270

   80,476 127,291

Minority interest  0 471

   80,476 127,762

 Long-term liabilities

 Other long-term liabilities (16) 1,749 0

  Other provisions, less the current portion (15) 29,473 7,906

  Deferred income, less the current portion (17) 2,869 3,002

   34,091 10,908

 Short-term liabilities

  Trade accounts payable  73,236 93,046

  Tax provisions (14) 502 537

  Derivative financial instruments (25) 56 234

  Other current provisions (15) 10,902 25,612

  Other current liabilities (16) 10,130 14,847

  Current portion of deferred income (17) 4,655 4,195 

   99,481 138,471

   214,048 277,141
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  Notes 2006 2005

   KEUR KEUR

 Turnover (18) 524,800 657,387

 Increase in finished goods and work in progress  206  1,593

 Other operating income (19) 18,116 20,580

 Cost of materials

  Cost of raw materials and supplies and of purchased goods  –449,197 –568,425

  Cost of purchased services  –2,970 –3,528

 Personnel expenses

  Wages and salaries  –49,635 –48,441

  Social security contributions  

 and other pension cost  –9,284 –9,601

 Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets  –6,716 –7,143

 Other operating expenses (21) –68,116 –77,318

 Loss from ordinary operations  –42,796 –34,896

 Interest earnings  1,237 1,217

 Interest expenditures  –1,695 –698

 Result from associates  73 40

 Loss before tax  –43,181 –34,337

 Income taxes (22) –3,329 –4,921

 Consolidated net loss for the year  –46,510 –39,258

–of which minority interest  0 329

Consolidated net loss for the year attributable to MAXDATA AG shareholders  –46,510 –39,587

 Basic earnings per share (23)

 Consolidated net loss for the year attributable to MAXDATA AG shareholders (in EUR)  –46,509,648.77 –39,586,532.32

 Shares (weighted average for the business year)  28,000,000 28,000,000

 Loss per share (in EUR)  –1.66 –1.41

 Diluted earnings per share (23)

 Consolidated net loss for the year attributable to MAXDATA AG shareholders (in EUR)  –46,509,648.77 –39,586,532.32

 Shares (weighted average for the business year)  28,000,000 28,000,000

 Loss per share (in EUR)  –1.66 –1.41

 Consolidated Income Statement
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   2006 2005

   KEUR KEUR

 Loss for the year, before deduction of loss/profit attributable to other

  shareholders, income taxes, interest and investment expenditure/income  –42,796 –34,896

 Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets  6,716  7,143

 Increase in provisions  7,165 11,875

 Loss from disposal 

 of long-term assets  89 34

 Decrease/Increase in inventories, trade receivables

  and other assets that cannot be allocated

  to investing or financing activities  72,533 –27,165

 Decrease/Increase in trade payables

  and other liabilities that cannot be allocated to

  investing or financing activities  –24,387 19,723

 Interest payments received  1,298 1,292

 Interest paid  –1,682 –698

 Income taxes payments/refunds  –1,305 1,858

 Cash flow from operating activities  17,631 –20,834

 Cash received from disposal of property, plant and

  equipment/intangible assets  326 585

 Cash paid for investments in property, plant and

  equipment/intangible assets  –3,517 –5,746

 Cash flow from investing activities  –3,191 –5,161

 Distributions to minority shareholders  –288 –204

 Cash flow from financing activities  –288 –204

 Change in cash and cash equivalents  14,152 –26,199

 Change in currency translation adjustment  –107 –14

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of business year  27,080 53,293

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of business year  41,125 27,080

 

 Cash and cash equivalents  41,125 27,080

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of business year  41,125 27,080

 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
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   Subscribed  Capital 

   capital  reserve 

    

   KEUR  KEUR 

 Balance as of 1 January 2005 29,000 145,660 

 Other comprehensive income 0 0 

 Net loss/profit 0 0 

Dividends to other shareholders 0 0 

 Balance as of 31 December 2005 29,000 145,660 

Other Comprehensive Income 0 0 

 Net loss 0 0 

Dividends to other shareholders 0 0 

 Change in minority interest 0 0 

 Balance as of 31 December 2006 29,000 145,660 

 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity



                                          Accumulated                        

                             Other Comprehensive Income

 Currency  Fair value mea-     Own Attributable to    Minority  Group

 translation  surement of finan- Accumulated     shares MAXDATA AG  interest 

 adjustment  cial instruments  profit/loss  shareholders   

 KEUR  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

–48 0 1,351 –9,270 166,693 346 167,039

–14 198 0 0 184 0 184

0 0 –39,587 0 –39,587 329 –39,258

0 0 0 0 0 –204 –204

–62 198 –38,235 –9,270 127,291 471 127,762

–107 –198 0 0 –305 0 –305

0 0 –46,510 0 –46,510 0 –46,510

0 0 0 0 0 –288 –288

0 0 0 0 0 –183 –183

–169 0 –84,745 –9,270 80,476 0 80,476
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(1) General

MAXDATA AG (MAXDATA) is registered in the com-

mercial register of Gelsenkirchen under the number 

HRB 5552. MAXDATA is a public listed company in 

the “Prime Standard” segment of the regulated mar-

ket in Frankfurt.

The MAXDATA Group (hereinafter – the Group) is in-

volved in manufacturing and distributing computer 

systems and monitors which are assembled by the 

Group or selected subcontractors in accordance with 

the Group‘s own specifi cations and quality standards. 

The Group sells computers under its own trademark 

“MAXDATA” and monitors under its own trademark 

“Belinea”. Other computer peripherals complete the 

Group’s product range. The average number of em-

ployees in the Group was 1,178 in 2006 and 1,243 in 

2005. The registered offi ce address of the Group is 

Elbestrasse 16, Marl, Germany.

After being prepared, the consolidated fi nancial state-

ments were released by the management board on 

27 February 2007.

(2) Adoption of standards, amendments 
to published standards and interpretations

In 2006, the Group adopted IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising 

from Participating in a Specifi c Market – Waste Elec-

trical and Electronic Equipment. IFRIC 6 is mandatory 

for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 Decem-

ber 2005. IFRIC 6 does not deal with the recognition 

of provisions for historical waste from commercial us-

ers or new waste from private households. For these 

kinds of waste the German Accounting Interpreta-

tions Committee (AIC) has published AIC 2 Obligation 

to Dispose of Electrical and Electronic Equipment that 

was also adopted in 2006.

The following standards, amendments and interpreta-

tions are mandatory for accounting periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2006 but are not relevant to the 

Group’s operations:

IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign 

Operation

IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting 

of Forecast Intragroup Transactions

IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee 

Contracts

IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-time Adoption of Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standards and IFRS 6 

(Amendment): Exploration for and Evaluation of Min-

eral Resources

IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Re-

sources

IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement con-

tains a Lease

IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommis-

sioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds

The following interpretations to existing standards 

have been published that are not mandatory for the 

Group’s accounting period 2006 (the Group has not 

early adopted):

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the 

complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation 

of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (man-

datory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2007).
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IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures relating to fi nancial 

instruments. The IFRS requires disclosure of qualita-

tive and quantitative information about exposure to 

risks arising from fi nancial instruments, including 

specifi ed minimum disclosures about credit risk, li-

quidity risk, market risk and sensivity analysis relating 

to special market risks. The new IFRS supersedes IAS 

30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks 

and Similar Financial Institutions, and the disclosure 

requirements of IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Dis-

closure and Presentation. IFRS 7 shall be applied by 

all entities using IFRS for accounting purposes. The 

amendment to IAS 1 requires additional disclosure 

of the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for 

managing capital. For the MAXDATA Group the main 

additional disclosure caused by the mentioned amend-

ments will be the sensivity analysis relating to special 

market risks and the disclosure relating to capital as 

required in the amendment of IAS 1. The fi rst time 

adoption will take place in business year 2007.

(3) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in preparing 

the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group 

are as follows:

Principles
The consolidated fi nancial statements were prepared 

in accordance with the standards published  by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The 

accounting standards used are in compliance with the 

European Union’s accounting directives pertaining to 

consolidated fi nancial statements. The requirements 

of Article 315 a of the German Commercial Code 

(HGB) are observed.

The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity 

with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting es-

timates. It also requires management to exercise its 

judgement in the process of applying the Group’s ac-

counting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 

of judgement or complexity, or areas where assump-

tions and estimates are signifi cant to the consolidated 

fi nancial statements are disclosed in the note to other 

provisions.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 

and are based on historical experience and other fac-

tors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The income statement has been prepared according 

to the nature of expenses method. The accompanying 

fi nancial statements have been prepared under the 

historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale 

fi nancial assets and fi nancial assets or liabilities at fair 

value through profi t or loss, all of which are measured 

at fair value after initial recognition.

Purchases or sales of fi nancial assets are primarily ac-

counted for using the trade date method.

Reporting currency
The functional currency is the respective national cur-

rency of the consolidated subsidiaries and the report-

ing currency of the Group is Euro. The consolidated 

fi nancial statements are prepared in thousands of eu-

ros (KEUR).

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group 

include MAXDATA AG and the subsidiaries over which 

the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial and 

operating policies generally accompanying a share-
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holding of more than one half of the voting rights. The 

equity and net income attributable to minority inter-

ests are shown separately in the balance sheets and 

below the income statements, respectively.

The purchase method of accounting is used for busi-

ness combinations. Companies acquired or disposed 

of during the year are included in the consolidated 

fi nancial statements from the date of acquisition up 

to the date of disposal. The cost of acquisition is al-

located applying the revaluation method. 

Intercompany balances and transactions, including 

unrealized profi ts and losses, are eliminated in full. 

Consolidated fi nancial statements are prepared using 

uniform accounting policies for similar transactions 

and other events in similar circumstances. Reference 

is made to note 30 with regard to consolidated enti-

ties.

Investments in associated companies (generally inter-

est of between 20 percent and 50 percent in a com-

pany’s equity) where a signifi cant infl uence is exer-

cised by MAXDATA AG or one of its subsidiaries are 

accounted for using the equity method. 

Financial instruments
The fi nancial instruments (fi nancial assets and fi nan-

cial liabilities) carried in the balance sheet pursuant to 

IAS 32 and IAS 39 include certain long-term fi nancial 

assets, trade and other accounts receivable and pay-

able, investments and marketable securities, cash 

and cash equivalents, as well as certain other assets 

and payables based on contractual arrangements.

The Group classifi es its fi nancial instruments in the fol-

lowing categories: fi nancial assets at fair value through 

profi t or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 

fi nancial assets, and available-for-sale fi nancial assets. 

The classifi cation depends on the purpose for which 

the fi nancial assets were acquired. Management de-

termines the classifi cation of its fi nancial assets at 

initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at 

every reporting date.

The fi rst time recognition of a fi nancial asset or fi nan-

cial liability is measured at cost, which represents the 

fair value of the consideration given (in the case of 

an asset) or received (in the case of a liability) for it. 

Recognition generally takes place on the trade date. 

Measurement after initial recognition is different for 

the various categories of fi nancial assets and fi nan-

cial liabilities. The accounting policies on subsequent 

measurement of these items are disclosed in the re-

spective notes.

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights 

to receive cash fl ows from the fi nancial asset have 

expired or have been transferred and the Group has 

transferred substantially all risks and rewards of own-

ership. Financial liabilities are derecognized if the 

commitments named in the contract have been set-

tled, revoked, or have expired.

The Group operates internationally, and is therefore 

subject to signifi cant exposure to market risks from 

changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group uses 

derivative fi nancial instruments to mitigate those risks. 

Derivative fi nancial instruments are generally classi-

fi ed as fair value through profi t and loss and valued at 

the attributable fair value. Valuation is performed by 

information received from banks using the discounted 

cash fl ow method. Options are valued using option 

pricing models. 

Gains and losses from these instruments are record-

ed in the result for the period except when deferred in 

equity as qualifying cash fl ow hedge.
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Disclosure of the nature of fi nancial instruments and 

their signifi cant terms and conditions that could affect 

the amount, timing and certainty of future cash fl ow 

is presented in the notes to the fi nancial statements, 

when applicable.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Inter-

nally generated intangible assets are not recognized. 

Intangible assets are recognized if it is probable that 

future economic benefi ts attributable to the asset will 

fl ow to the enterprise and the cost of the asset can be 

measured reliably. After initial recognition, intangible 

assets are measured at cost less accumulated amor-

tization and any accumulated impairment losses. With 

exception of goodwill intangible assets are amortized 

on a straight-line basis over the best estimate of their 

useful lives. The amortization period and the amortiza-

tion method are reviewed annually at each fi nancial 

year-end.

(a) Trademarks and licenses
Amounts paid for trademarks and licenses are capital-

ized and then amortized on a straight-line basis over 

the expected periods of benefi t. The expected useful 

lives of industrial rights and licenses vary from three 

to eight years.

(b) Software
The cost of acquisition of new software is capitalized 

and treated as an intangible asset if these costs are 

not an integral part of the related hardware. Software 

is amortized on a straight-line basis over three to fi ve 

years.

Costs incurred in order to restore or maintain the eco-

nomic benefi ts that an enterprise can initially expect 

from existing software systems are recognized as an 

expense when the restoration or maintenance work 

is carried out.

(c) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an ac-

quisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of 

the net identifi able assets of the acquired subsidiary 

at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of 

subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill 

is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost 

less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allo-

cated to cash-generating units for the purpose of im-

pairment testing. Each of those cash-generating units 

represents the Group’s investment in the acquired 

subsidiary.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impair-

ment losses. When assets are sold or retired, their 

cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated 

from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from 

their disposal is included in the income statement.

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment com-

prises its purchase price including customs duties 

and non-refundable acquisition taxes, as well as any 

directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 

working condition and location for its intended use. 

The manufacturing costs of property, plant, and equip-

ment include the cost of goods and services con-

sumed in producing the asset. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 

amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appro-

priate, only when it is probable that future economic 

benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the 

Group and the cost of the item can be measured reli-

ably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

the income statement during the fi nancial period in 

which they are incurred. 
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Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over 

the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are re-

viewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 

sheet date.

Assets under construction are allocated to property, 

plant and equipment and are reported at purchase 

cost or the respective cost of production. Assets un-

der construction are not depreciated until such time 

as the relevant assets are completed and put into op-

erational use.

Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefi nite useful life are not sub-

ject to amortization and are tested annually for impair-

ment. Assets that are subject to amortization are re-

viewed for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 

may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is rec-

ognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recover-

able amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of as-

sessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 

levels for which there are separately identifi able cash 

fl ows (cash-generating units).

With exception of goodwill, impairment losses recog-

nized in previous years are reversed when there is an 

indication that the impairment losses no longer apply 

or have decreased in scope. The reversal is recorded 

in income.

Investments in associates
Investments in associates are accounted for under 

the equity method pursuant to IAS 28.

The valuation of investments in associates is reviewed 

when there is an indication that the asset has been 

impaired or the impairment losses recognized in pre-

vious years no longer exist.

Inventories
Inventories, including fi nished goods and work-in-

process, are valued at the lower of cost and fair value 

less cost to sell, after provision for obsolete items. Fair 

value less cost to sell is the selling price in the ordi-

nary course of business, less the costs of completion, 

marketing and distribution. Inventory purchases are 

recognized at net prices. Inventories are thus meas-

ured net of any discounts offered. Discounts which 

are not availed of are recorded as interest expenses 

on the date they lapse. Cost is determined primarily 

on the basis of weighted average cost. For fi nished 

goods, cost includes an appropriate allocation of fi xed 

and variable overheads. Inventory which cannot be 

sold is written off in full.

Receivables and other assets
After initial recognition at fair value, receivables and 

other fi nancial assets are measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest rate method, after provi-

sion for doubtful accounts. Short-term receivables 

and other fi nancial assets with no fi xed interest rate 
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Estimated useful lives

Buildings 25 years

Machinery and equipment 3 to 15 years

Other equipment, furniture and fi xtures 3 to 20 years



are measured at the amount originally invoiced or face 

value, provided the effect of infl ation is not material. 

Those receivables and other fi nancial assets that do 

not have a fi xed maturity are measured at cost (nomi-

nal value). All receivables and other fi nancial assets 

are subject to an impairment test.

Other assets not covered by IAS 39 are measured at 

cost. They are also subject to an impairment test.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 

and bank balances. They also comprise money market 

funds as well as other current, highly liquid deposits, 

with original terms of three months or less, that are 

not subject to any material fl uctuations in value and 

can be converted quickly into specifi c amounts of 

cash.

Equity
Capital reserves result from premiums paid in con-

nection with cash capital increases after deducting 

the costs incurred for raising capital (net of tax). They 

can be used to offset net losses or to fund capital 

increases.

Own shares represent shares in the parent which 

are held by the parent itself. The acquisition of own 

shares is presented in the fi nancial statements as a 

change in equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the 

income statement on the sale, issue, or cancellation 

of own shares. The consideration received on such 

transactions is presented in the fi nancial statements 

as a change in equity.

Changes in the fair value of cash fl ow hedges and net 

foreign exchange transactions arising on translation of 

fi nancial statements of foreign subsidiaries are includ-

ed in accumulated other comprehensive income.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 

derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 

fl ow hedges are recognized in equity. The gain or loss 

relating to the ineffective portion is recognized imme-

diately in the income statement.

Amounts recognized in equity are transferred and rec-

ognized as profi t or loss when the hedged item is rec-

ognized in profi t or loss.

Other provisions
A provision is recognized when, and only when an en-

terprise has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 

as a result of a past event and it is probable that an 

outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts 

will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obliga-

tion. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet 

date and adjusted to refl ect the current best estimate. 

If the interest effect is material, the provision is dis-

counted to the present value of the expenditures ex-

pected to settle the obligation. In cases where no reli-

able estimate can be made, no provision is recognized 

but a contingent liability disclosed.

Liabilities
After initial recognition, fi nancial liabilities other than 

derivatives are measured at amortized cost in princi-

ple. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are 

measured at fair value.

Determined contractual obligations to purchase mi-

nority interests are valued at present value of the con-

tingent consideration.

Trade payables are recognized at net prices. This re-

sults in initial measurement of the liability net of any 

cash discounts offered. If cash discounts lapse they 

are charged to interest expenses and trade payables 

are increased accordingly.
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Deferred income
Deferred income is recognized for consideration re-

ceived before the balance sheet date representing 

revenues or other income for a specifi ed period after 

the balance sheet date. Deferred income is initially 

measured at the nominal value of the consideration 

received. Subsequently, it is released as sales or oth-

er income over the period during which the service is 

performed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the 

economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will 

fl ow to the enterprise and the amount of the revenue 

can be measured reliably. Sales are recognized net of 

sales taxes and discounts when delivery has taken 

place and the signifi cant risks and rewards of owner-

ship have been transferred. Service revenues are rec-

ognized in principle over the period during which the 

service is performed.

Interest
Interest is recognized on a time proportion basis that 

refl ects the effective yield on the asset.

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the re-

porting currency by translating any amounts denomi-

nated in foreign currency using the exchange rate be-

tween the reporting currency and the foreign currency 

at the date of the transaction.

Exchange rate differences arising from the settlement 

of monetary items or valuation on closing date at 

rates different from those at which they were initially 

recorded during the periods are recognized in the in-

come statement in the period in which they arise.

Foreign entities
The foreign consolidated subsidiaries are regarded 

as net investments in foreign entities since they are 

fi nancially, economically, and organizationally autono-

mous. Their reporting currencies are the respective 

local currencies. Financial statements of foreign con-

solidated subsidiaries are translated at closing rates 

with respect to the balance sheet and at exchange 

rates at the date of transaction with respect to the in-

come statement. All resulting translation differences 

are directly included in accumulated exchange rate dif-

ferences in equity. 

On the disposal of a foreign entity, the accumulated 

exchange rate differences that relate to the foreign 

entity are recognized as income or as expense in the 

same period in which the gain or loss on disposal is 

recognized. Consolidation of foreign subsidiaries lo-

cated in the Euro zone does not result in any transla-

tion differences.

Share options
The employees and members of the management 

board of MAXDATA AG and its subsidiaries were 

granted options to purchase common shares of the 

Company. Share options issued are treated as pend-

ing transactions until they are exercised by the option 

holder. Once the options are exercised, the premium 

in excess of the nominal value of EUR 1 per share is 

transferred to the capital reserve. The valuation meth-

od was maintained after adoption of IFRS 2 due to the 

transitional provisions of IFRS 2.53. To date no shares 

have been issued under the share option program. 

Reference is made to Note 12.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are not capitalized but recognized as 

an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Suppliers’ discounts offered in connection with pur-

chases which are not availed of are recorded as inter-

est expenses on the date they lapse.

Income taxes
The income tax charge is based on profi t for the year 

and considers deferred taxation. Deferred taxes are 

calculated using the liability method. Deferred in-

come taxes refl ect the net tax effects of temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for fi nancial reporting purposes and the 

amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates 

expected to apply in the period in which an asset is 

realized or a liability is settled. The measurement of 

deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets refl ects 

the tax consequences that the company estimates on 

balance sheet date to follow from the reversal of tem-

porary differences in future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized when it is prob-

able that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available in 

future against which the deferred tax assets can be 

utilized. At each balance sheet date, the Company re-

assesses unrecognized deferred tax assets and the 

carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The enter-

prise recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred 

tax asset to the extent that it has become probable 

that future taxable profi t will allow the deferred tax as-

set to be recovered. The company conversely reduces 

the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the ex-

tent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable 

profi t will be available to allow the benefi t of part or all 

of that deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Leases
Leases in which a signifi cant portion of the risks and 

rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 

classifi ed as operating leases. Payments made under 

operating leases are charged to the income statement 

on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the notes unless 

the possibility of an outfl ow of resources embodying 

economic benefi ts is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognized in the fi nancial 

statements but disclosed when an infl ow of econom-

ic benefi ts is probable.

(4) Changes in the Group’s organization
No companies were founded, acquired or sold in the 

business year 2006. By Group internal restructuring 

with no effect on the net assets, fi nancial position 

and results of operations of the Group, two com -

panies do not longer exist. MAXDATA Verwaltungs 

GmbH was merged into MAXDATA AG on 1 January

2006. Due to the merger, the assets of MAXDATA 

Com puter GmbH & Co. KG increased the assets of 

MAXDATA AG. Subsequently, the assets of the divi-

sion “MAXDATA Computer GmbH & Co. KG ALT” 

were transferred to MAXDATA e-business GmbH as 

well as renaming MAXDATA e-business GmbH into 

MAXDATA Computer GmbH.

On 1 January 2006 a further 22 percent portion of 

shares of ASIG Quality Services GmbH, Augsburg, 

(ASIG) was acquired by the Group. ASIG is a consoli-

dated entity since 2000. The purchase price of KEUR 

1,944 was settled in cash. At the same time a subsidi-

ary of MAXDATA entered into a contractual obligation 

to acquire the remaining 26 percent of the shares. The 

vendor has the right to exercise put options totally or 

partly within a period from 24 months to the year end, 

at the earliest however to 31 December 2010. IAS 32 
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justifi es a put option, which is settled in cash or other 

fi nancial net assets, to account for as fi nancial charge 

measured at present value of the purchase price. As 

best estimate, the contractually agreed minimum pur-

chase price was used. The contract is designed with a 

transfer of risks and rewards of the shares on 1 Janu-

ary 2006 to MAXDATA Group. The minority interest 

associated with the shares subject to the put options 

is derecognized. The difference between the purchase 

and/or exercise price and the minority interest is rec-

ognized as additional goodwill. From this procedure 

additional long-term other liabilities of KEUR 1,736, an 

additional goodwill of KEUR 1,557 as well as a capital 

reduction of KEUR 471 was recognized on 1 January 

2006. In the profi t and loss account, minority interests 

are retired and replaced by the change of the discount 

on the liability that is recognized as a fi nance charge 

(KEUR 13).

 

 



(5) Intangible assets 

The goodwill is exclusively allocated to ASIG. The 

annual impairment test has been performed at 31 

December 2006. There was no need for impairment 

charges. The determination of the recoverable amount 

was based on value-in-use calculations using the dis-

counted cash fl ow method. Projections are based on 

sustainable cash fl ows of the past fi ve years that are 

extrapolated for a forecasted fi ve-year period using a 

  Trademarks,  Goodwill Payments on  Total

  licenses and    account  

  software    

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

At cost

1 January 2005 16,401 2,166 1,219 19,786

Additions 1,571 0 0 1,571

Disposals –64 0 0 –64

Transfers 1,196 0 –1,219 –23

31 December 2005 19,104 2,166 0 21,270

Accumulated amortization 

and impairment losses

1 January 2005 11,962 0 0 11,962

Amortization for the year 2,765 0 0 2,765

Disposals –58 0 0 –58

Transfers –23 0 0 –23

31 December 2005 14,646 0 0 14,646

At cost

1 January 2006 19,104 2,166 0 21,270

Additions 370 3,496 304 4,170

Disposals –706 0 0 –706

Currency translation differences –2 0 0 –2

31 December 2006 18,766 5,662 304 24,732

Accumulated amortization

and impairment losses

1 January 2006 14,646 0 0 14,646

Amortization for the year 2,924 0 0 2,924

Disposals –707 0 0 –707

Currency translation differences –1 0 0 –1

31 December 2006 16,862 0 0 16,862

Net book value 2006 1,904 5,662 304 7,870

Net book value 2005 4,458 2,166 0 6,624

growth rate of 1.8 percent per year. Cash fl ows be-

yond the fi ve-year period were determined as average 

of the fi ve-year period. A growth rate for the extrapo-

lation of the fi ve-year average was not considered. 

The discount rate of 8.21 percent, used for the calcu-

lation, considers a Beta Factor specifi c to the Group, 

a tax-rate of 39 percent as well as an individual capital 

structure.
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  Land  Machinery Other equip- Construction in  Total 

  and  and ment furniture progress and pay-

  buildings  equipment and fixtures ments on account  

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

At cost

1 January 2005 52,572 1,995 20,301 818 75,686

Additions 14 2,329 1,546 3 3,892

Disposals 0 –7 –3,391 0 –3,398

Transfers 0 197 89 –263 23

Currency translation differences 0 0 8 0 8

31 December 2005 52,586 4,514 18,553 558 76,211

Accumulated 

depreciation and 

impairment losses 

1 January 2005 13,223 1,509 14,927 555 30,214

Depreciation for the year 1,991 221 2,167 0 4,379

Disposals 0 –7 –2,779 0 –2,786

Transfers 0 0 23 0 23

Currency translation differences 0 0 6 0 6

31 December 2005 15,214 1,723 14,344 555 31,836

At cost

1 January 2006 52,586 4,514 18,553 558 76,211

Additions 0 242 629 44 915

Disposals 0 –3 –4,123 0 –4,126

Transfers 0 0 6 –6 0

Currency translation differences 0 0 –18 0 –18

31 December 2006 52,586 4,753 15,047 596 72,982

Accumulated

depreciation and 

impairment losses

1 January 2006 15,214 1,723 14,344 555 31,836

Depreciation for the year 1,937 305 1,550 0 3,792

Disposals 0 –3 –3,707 0 –3,710

Currency translation differences 0 0 –11 0 –11

31 December 2006 17,151 2,025 12,176 555 31,907

Net book value 2006 35,435 2,728 2,871 41 41,075

Net book value 2005 37,372 2,791 4,209 3 44,375



(6) Property, plant and equipment 
(7) Investments in associates

EMV Testhaus GmbH is an associate of ASIG Quality 

Services GmbH. The company is accounted for by the 

equity method. 

(8) Inventories 

The carrying amount of inventories carried at fair value 

less cost to sell  amounts to KEUR 1,247 (previous 

year: KEUR 4,844).Valuation allowances of inventories 

at a value of KEUR 2,524 (previous year: KEUR 1,357) 

are recognized in profi t and loss account.

(9) Trade receivables 
 

The KEUR 596 reduction in valuation allowances (pre-

vious year: KEUR 423) is the combination of additional 

impairments of trade receivables of KEUR 170 (previ-

ous year: KEUR 260) and a reversal of impairments of 

KEUR 766 (previous year: KEUR 683).

On 31 December 2006 certain group companies had 

sold receivables at a value of KEUR 41,080 (previous 

year: KEUR 0) in connection with a factoring contract. 

Substantially all risks and opportunities were trans-

ferred to the factor.

An expense of KEUR 1,005 (previous year: KEUR 

1,017) for non-collectable receivables is included in 

other operating expenses. This comprises beside the 

additional impairments of trade receivables a write off 

on receivables in the amount of KEUR 835 (previous 

year: KEUR 757) which is partially covered by credit 

insurance payments in the amount of KEUR 497 (pre-

vious year: KEUR 526). 

On the one hand, the bad debt allowance was calcu-

lated on the basis of objective indicators of the risk 

of non-collection and, on the other hand, past experi-

ence of default of specifi c receivables.

Entity Principal Equity

 activities interest %

EMV Testhaus GmbH EMC 

  30.0

 Trade receivables 2006 2005

 KEUR KEUR

 

 Receivables 31,873 101,560

 Less bad debt allowances –977 –1,573

 30,896 99,987

*qualifi ed estimate

EMV Testhaus GmbH 2006* 2005

 KEUR KEUR

 

Total assets 1,192 1,157

Total Liabilities 268 260

Turnover 1,633 1,585

Profi t of the year 249 242
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(10) Other assets 

 

 

(11) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 

bank balances of KEUR  37,709 (previous year: KEUR 

23,798) and money market funds of KEUR 3,416 (pre-

vious year: KEUR 3,282).

Cash and cash equivalents with an amount of KEUR 

8,416 are reduced in availability. Thereof KEUR 3,416 

are pledged as collaterals for letters of credit.

(12) Subscribed capital

The share capital of the Group’s parent, MAXDATA, 

is divided into 29,000,000 no-par-value bearer shares 

each representing EUR 1 of share capital. Contribu-

tions to capital have been paid up in full. 

As of balance sheet date MAXDATA holds 1,000,000 

of its own shares (previous year: 1,000,000). 

At the annual general meeting of MAXDATA AG on 

27 May 1999, the shareholders approved a condi-

tional increase in the share capital of MAXDATA AG 

of up to KEUR 480 (contingent capital I) by issue of 

up to 480,000 new no-par-value bearer shares. This 

conditional increase in capital serves to ensure the 

subscription rights of employees, members of the 

management board of MAXDATA AG, its subsidiar-

ies, as well as of companies affi liated with MAXDATA 

AG within the meaning of Article 15 et seq. of the 

German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) in Switzerland, 

Austria, the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands in 

accordance with the conditions set in the authorizing 

resolution of the annual general meeting of 27 May 

1999.

The conditional increase in capital may only be under-

taken to the extent that those entitled to subscription 

rights within the framework of the employee share 

option plan exercise their subscription rights. The new 

shares carry profi t participation rights from the be-

ginning of the business year in which they originate 

through the exercise of subscription rights.

Share option plan
MAXDATA issued a share option plan in 1999 when its 

IPO occurred. This share option plan allowed options 

to be granted to employees and members of the man-

agement board of MAXDATA AG and its subsidiaries 

for no consideration previous to 31 December 2000 

entitling bearers to purchase a total of 480,000 bearer 

shares pursuant to the authorization passed by resolu-

tion of the annual general meeting on 27 May 1999. 

The exercise price for each option was fi xed at EUR 
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* The blocked account factoring amounts to 20 percent of the 

purchase price of the purchased receivables and is due with 

collection of the receivables, at the latest in case of delcredere.

 Other assets 2006 2005

  KEUR KEUR

Blocked account factoring* 8,460 0

Prepayments to suppliers 6,352 0

Recourse claims

 against business partners 4,047 1,925

Outstanding sales tax reimbursements 2,210 1,239

Prepaid expenses  967 1,582

Creditors with debit balances 656  561

Receivables for bonuses

 and advertising subsidies 548 521

Receivables from 

 insurance claims 189 190

Other 1,086 1,212

  24,515 7,230

  Shares  Own  Outstanding

  issued  shares   shares 

  (number)  (number)  (number)

31.12.2005 29,000,000 –1,000,000 28,000,000

31.12.2006 29,000,000 –1,000,000 28,000,000



of each 12 month period measured on the calendar 

day on which the shares were fi rst issued. If the mar-

ket price increases by the required amount, the op-

tions which vest in this way will remain exercisable 

until the expiry of the life of the option, even if the 

market price were to decrease again subsequently. 

As of 31 December 2005, 61,384 options to purchase 

61,384 shares had been granted. Owing to employ-

ee turnover, the number of options outstanding has 

fallen to 47,884 as of 31 December 2006. Under the 

accounting policy adopted by the Group no compen-

sation expense is recognized under the share option 

plan.

(13) Capital reserve and accumulated profi t/loss

Capital reserves consist mainly of the premiums 

received in the course of MAXDATA going public in 

1999.

No dividend was paid for 2005. The management 

board of MAXDATA AG has proposed that no dividend 

be paid for 2006.

(14) Tax provisions

Tax provisions are recognized for the expected amount 

of additional tax payments. 

(15) Other provisions 
 

31 in agreement with the price of MAXDATA shares 

at their fi rst issue. The options are only exercisable 

under the precondition that the market price of the 

MAXDATA share has on the average increased by at 

least 1 percentage point per month as against the is-

sue price, i.e. on average at least 12 percentage points 

per year as against the issue price. This means that the 

share price would have had to have increased by 36 

percentage points as against its price at fi rst issue by 

9 June 2002 – the fi rst possible date the fi rst tranche 

(30 percent of the options) could be exercised. If the 

options are not exercisable within the vesting period 

(three years following the fi rst trading day), as the in-

crease in value of the share did not occur as provided, 

the options will become exercisable at a later stage 

within the life of the options (which expires on 8 June 

2009), if the market price of the shares has increased 

on average by at least 1 percentage point per month. 

If the market price of the MAXDATA share does not 

reach the increase required by an average of 12 per-

centage points per year on the fi rst possible exercise 

dates, the options of the second and third tranche will 

become exercisable at the date on which the average 

market price of the MAXDATA share on the last 30 

trading days has reached the market price as adjusted 

correspondingly.

The market price within the meaning of the foregoing 

is the average market price of the MAXDATA share 

calculated on the basis of the closing prices on the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the last 30 trading days 

 Other provisions  Warranties  Miscellaneous  Total

  KEUR  KEUR  KEUR

 1 January 2006 15,972 17,546 33,518

 Additions in business year 9,618 7,938 17,556

 Utilizations in business year –8,158 –2,471 –10,629

 Reversals in business year –10 –71 –81

 Currency translation differences in business year 8 3 11

 31 December 2006 17,430 22,945 40,375

 Current portion 6,887 4,015 10,902

 Non-current portion 10,543 18,930 29,473
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vice levy of EUR 30 for every PC sold since 1 Janu-

ary 2001. In a judgment of 23 December 2004, the 

Munich Regional Court specifi ed a levy of EUR 12 for 

every PC sold since 1 January 2001. The decision was 

confi rmed by the Munich Higher Regional Court on 

15 December 2005. From this, copyright device 

levies at a value of EUR 12 per PC must be paid to 

the VG Wort retroactively starting from 2001. The 

Munich Higher Regional Court rejected the appeal 

of this court decision on 15 December 2005 but has 

allowed appealing the Federal High Court. The Group 

has accounted for provisions on basis of the actual 

court decision. The time of cash outfl ow depends on 

the duration of the fi nal legal proceedings. The cash 

outfl ow is expected as non-current.

Beyond that bonus obligations at a value of KEUR 

2,210 are included in miscellaneous other provisions 

(previous year: KEUR 1,800), which are expected to 

be incurred in business year 2007.

(16) Other  liabilities

Subject of the other non-current liabilities is the fi -

nancial liability in connection with the put option con-

cerning the ASIG shares. The liability is recognized at 

present value of the purchase price (see description 

in text 4).

Warranty
The Group generally offers three-year warranties for 

its computers and monitors. Management estimates 

the related provision for future warranty claims based 

on historical warranty claim information, as well as 

recent trends that might suggest that past cost in-

formation may differ from future claims. Factors that 

could impact the estimated claim information include 

the success of the Group’s productivity and quality 

initiatives, as well as parts and labor costs. The war-

ranty provisions consider repair and/or process costs, 

failure rates and recourse claims from the warranty 

agreements with suppliers.

As of 31 December 2006 and 2005 the Group has pro-

vided KEUR 17,430 and KEUR 15,972 respectively for 

expected warranty claims on computers and monitors 

sold during the last 36 months before the respective 

balance sheet date. The current portion of these war-

ranty costs are expected to be incurred in the next 

business year, the remaining costs are expected to be 

incurred within the two following years.

Miscellaneous other provisions
Miscellaneous other provisions mainly contain the 

provision for copyright device levies with an amount 

of KEUR 16,670 (previous year: KEUR 14,972). A 

competitor of MAXDATA was sued by Verwertungs-

gesellschaft (VG) Wort for payment of a copyright de-
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Other current liabilities  2006 2005 

  KEUR KEUR

Liabilities to employees  3,961 3,833

Value added tax  3,794 6,562

Payroll and church taxes  676 687

Liabilities related to social security  329 1,394

Debtors with credit balances  165 423

Miscellaneous  1,205 1,948

  10,130 14,847



(20) Personnel expenses

Due to the current restructuring plan compensations 

and cost for a transfer company at a value of KEUR 

3,717 are included in the personnel expenses.

(21) Other operating expenses 
 

In previous year the recognition of an additional provi-

sion of EUR 8.8 millions for copyright device levies 

on PCs was necessary due to a judgment of the Mu-

nich Higher Regional Court. The current expenses for 

copyright device levies on PCs are charged to costs 

of materials.

The fi rst time disclosure of other staff costs led to an 

adjustment of the previous year numbers „Other“ of 

KEUR 3,318 down to KEUR 7,505.

(22) Income taxes 

The main components of the income tax expenses 

reported in the income statement are as follows:

 

(17) Deferred income

Deferred income relates to receipts from “guarantee 

certifi cates” in connection with granting extended 

guarantee services. The payments received are rec-

ognized at the time the guarantee certifi cates were 

issued; they will be released on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the guarantees. Income from the re-

lease of deferred income is offset by current expenses 

related to the extended guarantee services rendered 

in association with the guarantee certifi cates.

(18) Turnover by geographical areas 
and product lines 
 

(19) Other operating income
 

Turnover by   

geographical  2006  2005

areas KEUR % KEUR %

Domestic 275,225 52 360,224 55

Foreign 249,575 48 297,163 45

 524,800 100 657,387 100

Turnover by 2006  2005

product line KEUR % KEUR %

Monitors 245,051 47 289,307 44

Computers 229,578 44 314,873 48

Other 50,171 9 53,207 8

 524,800 100 657,387 100

 Other operating expenses 2006 2005

 KEUR KEUR

 Advertising expenses 9,266 12,968

 Exchange rate losses 8,882 11,505

 Transport costs (delivery of goods) 8,877 10,891

 Rent incidentals/repairs 7,185 6,495

Fees 6,214 4,063

Settlement for a lawsuit with a supplier 4,500 0

 Warranties 3,983 5,437

Other staff costs 2,412 3,318

 Insurance 1,802 1,973

 Communication 1,772 1,783

 Rent and lease expenses 1,508 1,571

 Bad debts/impairment 

of trade receivables 1,005 1,017

 Copyright device levies 0 8,792

 Other 10,710 7,505

 68,116 77,318

 Other operating income 2006 2005

  KEUR KEUR

 Exchange rate gains 9,837 10,514

 Income from fi xed service fees 3,052 3,602

 Advertising subsidies from suppliers 2,894 4,070

 Insurance indemnifi cations 824 840

 Other 1,509 1,554

  18,116 20,580
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Unchanged from previous year a tax rate of 39 percent 

compounded from corporate income tax and trade tax 

has been used to calculate deferred taxes. 

A reconciliation of the expected tax expense to the 

tax expense reported in the income statement is as 

follows: 
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 Income taxes 2006 2005

  KEUR KEUR

 Current income tax expense –1,007 –861

 Deferred tax expense/income

  from the occurrence/reversal of

  temporary differences –1,398 4,486

 Decrease in deferred

  tax assets from tax claims

  due to loss carry-forwards –924 –8,546

  –3,329 –4,921

  2006 2005

  KEUR KEUR

 Deferred tax assets

 Tax loss carry-forwards (domestic) 1,320 2,244

 Differences from the valuation of assets and liabilities 66 388

 Total 1,386 2,632

 Deferred tax liabilities

 Differences from the valuation of assets and liabilities and from consolidation –1,320 –244

 Total –1,320 –244

 Deferred tax assets (net) 66 2,388

  2006  2005

  KEUR % KEUR %

 Result before income taxes –43,181 100.0 –34,337 100.0

 Taxes at domestic tax rate 16,841 –39.0 13,391 –39.0

 Tax effects from divergent foreign tax rates

  and foreign losses without capitalization of deferred taxes –4,144 9.6 –1,423 4.1

 Change in deferred tax assets –2,322 5.4 –4,060 11.8

 Tax effects from domestic losses without capitalization of deferred taxes –13,176 30.5 –12,759 37.2

 Effects from taxes for previous years –528 1.2 –70 0.2

 Tax expense  –3,329 7.7 –4,921 14.3

 

Components of deferred tax assets/liabilities are as 

follows:



 

Deferred tax assets have been offset against deferred 

tax liabilities pursuant to IAS 12. Deferred tax assets 

and liabilities have been calculated on the basis of the 

planning projections for the two following years. It is 

expected that deferred taxes will be recovered after 

more than 12 months.

As of balance sheet date the Group records CIT loss 

carry-forwards in Germany of about EUR 326.5 mil-

lion (previous year: EUR 277.1 million) and loss carry-

forwards for trade tax purposes of about EUR 113.0 

million (previous year: EUR 87.0 million) on which no 

deferred tax assets have been capitalized. The sub-

sidiaries outside Germany have loss carry-forwards of 

EUR 44.1 million (previous year: EUR 32.6 million), on 

which no deferred tax assets have been capitalized 

at balance sheet date. The Group did not recognize 

deferred income tax assets of EUR 113.2 million (pre-

vious year: EUR 93.4 million).

(23) Earnings per share 

The basic earnings per share are determined by divid-

ing the net result for the period allocable to the ordi-

nary shareholders by the average weighted number 

of outstanding ordinary shares during the period.

To calculate the diluted earnings per share, the net 

profi t attributable to shareholders and the weighted 

average number of shares outstanding are adjusted 

for the effects of all potential ordinary shares from 

the exercise of share options. The number of ordinary 

shares would be the weighted average number of or-

dinary shares plus the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares which would be issued on the conver-

sion of all potential ordinary shares. Share options are 

deemed to have been converted into ordinary shares 

at the beginning of the period, or, if later, on the date 

when the options were granted.

Since the price of MAXDATA shares was lower than 

the exercise price defi ned in the share option plan in 

the current and previous year, there is no dilutive ef-

fect for the current and previous year. 

  Consolidated net 

   loss for the year

   attributable to 

   MAXDATA AG  Weighted  Earnings

  shareholders  average number  per share

  KEUR  of shares  EUR

 Basic/diluted earnings per share  

  for the business year 2006 –46,510 28,000,000 –1.66

 Basic/diluted earnings per share  

  for the business year 2005 –39,587 28,000,000 –1.41
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ternational GmbH has been allocated to the foreign 

segment. Transactions between segments are mainly 

charged at cost plus a small margin to cover additional 

costs of the segment providing the service.

Fixed assets are transferred at residual carrying 

amounts.

 

 

(24) Segment information 
 

The geographical division into domestic and foreign 

segments is performed on the basis of the registered 

offi ce of the respective companies; as the parent 

company of the foreign subsidiaries, MAXDATA In-
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 Segment information                                 Germany                  International               Consolidation                      Total

 by geographical region 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

 External sales 275,225 360,224 249,575 297,163 0 0 524,800 657,387

 Intrasegment sales 197,845 253,617 0 0 –197,845 –253,617 0 0

 Income 473,070 613,841 249,575 297,163 –197,845 –253,617 524,800 657,387

 Segment result –28,776 –21,175 –14,020 –13,721 0 0 –42,796 –34,896

 plus financial result       –385 559

 less income taxes       –3,329 –4,921

less minority 

  interest       0 –329

 Group result       –46,510 –39,587

 Segment assets 180,717 253,439 81,785 93,013 –50,572 –73,815 211,930 272,637

plus investments 

 in associates       151 138

plus loans       33 65

 plus deferred taxes  

  and tax refund claims       1,934 4,301

 Total assets       214,048 277,141

 Segment liabilities 95,474 126,181 88,168 96,476 –50,572 –73,815 133,070 148,842

 plus deferred taxes

  and tax provisions       502 537

 plus minority interest       0 471

 Total liabilities       133,572 149,850

 Capital expenditure 4,885 5,104 201 358 0 0 5,086 5,462

 Amortization and depreciation –6,091 –6,545 –625 –598 0 0 –6,716 –7,143

 Non-cash expenses,

  excluding depreciation 94 –2,180 –199 –201 0 0 –105 –2,381

 Pro rata result from  

  associated companies 73 40 0 0 0 0 73 40

 Shares in associated companies 151 138 0 0 0 0 151 138



The “Monitors” business segment consists of CRT 

and TFT monitors, while the “Computers” segment 

comprises desktop PCs, notebooks, and servers.

Segment assets and capital expenditures are only al-

located to the individual business segments if they are 

clearly allocable; otherwise the assets are allocated to 

the segment “other”.

(25) Financial instruments

Exchange rate risks
A large part of the Group’s purchases of raw mate-

rials, components and goods for resale are denomi-

nated in US dollars whereas sales are predominantly 

denominated in currencies other than US dollars. The 

Group enters into various types of foreign exchange 

contracts in managing its foreign exchange risk result-

ing from cash fl ows from (anticipated) business activi-

ties denominated in foreign currencies.

Among other things, the Group hedges foreign ex-

change risk by acquiring US dollars in spot transac-

tions. Prior to use, these US dollars are partially ex-

changed for euros by means of currency swaps. In 

addition, foreign currency is sold in spot transactions 

and bought back again before the proceeds were re-

ceived by means of currency swaps. Foreign currency 

is also bought and sold in forward exchange transac-

tions.

 Segment Information                                  Monitors                    Computers                   Other areas/                       Total

                                                                                                                                      not allocated

  2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

 External sales 245,051 289,307 229,578 314,873 50,171 53,207 524,800 657,387

 Segment assets 75,695 96,870 88,388 95,546 49,965 80,221 214,048 272,637

 Capital expenditures 0 0 0 0 5,086 5,462 5,086 5,462

Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that custom-

ers may not be able to settle obligations to the Group 

upon maturity. To manage this risk the Group regularly 

assesses the fi nancial viability of its customers.

Liquidity risk management implies maintaining suffi -

cient cash and the availability of funding through an 

adequate amount of committed credit or factoring fa-

cilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 

businesses, Group Treasury aims to maintain fl exibil-

ity in funding by keeping committed credit lines avail-

able.

Credit risks
Credit risks, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, 

are controlled by the application of credit approvals, 

limits and monitoring procedures. In addition, the 

Group uses credit insurance to cover its credit risk. 

The extent of the Group’s credit exposure is repre-

sented by the aggregate balance of amounts receiv-

able. The maximum credit risk, without taking account 

of credit insurance, is approximately equal to the bal-

ance of fi nancial assets as disclosed in the balance 

sheet. The Group has no signifi cant concentration of 

credit risk with any single counterparty or groups of 

counterparties.
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Fair value of fi nancial instruments
Fair value is defi ned as the amount at which the in-

strument could be exchanged in a current transaction 

between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s 

length transaction, other than in forced or liquidation 

sales. Fair values are obtained from quoted market 

prices, discounted cash fl ow models and option pric-

ing models as appropriate. The carrying amount is the 

value at which the fi nancial instrument is disclosed in 

the balance sheet.

The derivative fi nancial instruments recognized in the 

balance sheet are used as hedging instruments for 

foreign currency liabilities and receivables without ex-

ception. 

In 2006, a loss of KEUR 2,493 (previous year: gain of 

KEUR 421) was realized on derivatives used to hedge 

foreign currency liabilities/receivables. The effects 

were counterbalanced by the settlement of foreign 

currency liabilities/receivables.

Derivative fi nancial instruments cover currency swaps 

and forward exchange transactions.

At balance sheet date the nominal values of open cur-

rency swaps entered into to buy/sell foreign curren-

cy amounted to KEUR 46,295 (previous year: KEUR 

55,350) with fair value of KEUR 18 (previous year: 

KEUR 233). Moreover at balance sheet date, there 

were forward exchange transactions to buy/sell for-

eign currency totalling nominal values of KEUR 17,737  

(previous year: KEUR 24,134), with fair values of 

KEUR 71 (previous year: KEUR 68). At balance sheet 

date, the residual term of these swaps and forward 

exchange transactions was less than three months. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Due to the relatively short-term maturity of these fi -

nancial instruments, the carrying amount of cash, 

cash equivalents and other current assets approxi-

mates fair value.

Short-term loans and other short-term liabilities 
as well as the short-term portion of long-term 
liabilities
The carrying amount approximates fair value because 

of the short period to maturity of these fi nancial in-

struments.

(26)  Other fi nancial commitments 

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under 

operating leases are as follows:

Operating leases stem primarily from long-term rent 

agreements for business premises as well as from 

lease agreements for motor vehicles.

Other fi nancial obligations mainly contain obligations 

from service and insurance contracts. 
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 Operating  up to  1 to  more than

 Lease  1 year  5 years  5 years

  KEUR  KEUR KEUR

31.12.2006 2,156 2,172 82

31.12.2005 2,467 4,475 1,823

 Other fi nancial obligations KEUR

31.12.2006 1,552

31.12.2005 3,855



(27) Contingent liabilities

As of the balance sheet date, there are several cases 

in which the Group has receivables and liabilities due 

from and to its suppliers that are either disputed or 

contestable. In determining the total volume of the 

open items of the Group, all recognized and unrec-

ognized claims of the parties were compared and, 

if a reliable estimate appeared possible, a provision 

was recognized for the probable exposure from the 

Group’s point of view. The maximum exposure that 

cannot be completely ruled out in excess of the provi-

sions already recorded amounts to EUR 1.1 million. 

In January 2006 the Zentralstelle für private Überspie-

lungsrechte (ZPÜ) called the board of arbitration of 

the German Patent and Trade Mark Offi ce in Munich 

against a subsidiary of MAXDATA and further approxi-

mately 20 manufacturers and dealers of personnel 

computers (PC). The ZPÜ as a representative of the 

authors of fi lm and music claims a copyright device 

levy of EUR 18.42 for each PC sold or delivered in the 

Federal Republic of Germany since 1 January 2002. 

The ZPU justifi es the demand with the fact that a PC 

is a recording device. The PC industry and BITKOM 

(German Association for Information Technology, Tele-

communications, and New Media) neither agree the 

reason nor the amount of the claim. In consultation 

with BITKOM an agreement that the arbitrative proc-

ess will be conducted representational for the PC 

industry in the context of a class action is expected 

in the near future. With consideration of the already 

existing copyright device levies on other elements of 

the PC, the estimated theoretical possible burden is 

about EUR 9 million.

(28) Related party transactions

Transactions with associates
The Group has entered into transactions with its as-

sociates. The respective Group companies enter into 

transactions in the normal course of business on an 

arm’s-length basis. 

The balance sheet and income statement include the 

following amounts resulting from transactions with 

associates.

 

MAXDATA had loan receivables against Adam Riesig 

GmbH, Braunschweig, including accumulated interest 

by 22 December 2006 at a value of EUR 3,588,601.69. 

MAXDATA transferred the loan to DIVACO Beteili-

gungs AG & Co. KG, Saarbruecken. The complete pay-

ment of the aforementioned amount took place on 22 

December 2006. Both the Adam Riesig GmbH and 

the DIVACO Beteiligungs AG & Co. KG are related par-

ties of Mr. Siegfried Kaske.

 Transactions with   2006 2005

 associates KEUR KEUR

 Trade receivables 5 2

 Trade payables 

 and other liabilities 84 109

 Turnover 10 14

Cost of materials 876 860
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Remuneration of the Management Board and 
Supervisory Board
In the business year 2006, total remuneration of the 

group Management Board totalled KEUR 914  (previ-

ous year: KEUR 895). The Spokesman of the Board, 

Thomas Stiegler, received in 2006 a total remunera-

tion of KEUR 322 (previous year: KEUR 320) compris-

ing fi xed components only. Reinhard Blunck, member 

of the management board received payment for his 

work on the board in 2006 of KEUR  257 (previous 

year: KEUR 256), which comprised exclusively fi xed 

components. In agreement with the Supervisory 

Board Juergen Renz resigned from his mandate on 

8 March 2006. His total remuneration amounted to 

KEUR 335 (previous year: KEUR 319) including a com-

pensation payment of KEUR 225.

In the business year 2006, the Group Management 

Board held 3,000 share options (previous year: 3,000 

share options).

The members of the Supervisory Board received a 

fi xed total remuneration of KEUR 211 for 2006 (previ-

ous year: KEUR 225). Siegfried Kaske, chairman of the 

Supervisory Board, received KEUR 60 (previous year: 

KEUR 60). In the business year, the deputy chairman, 

Klaus Wiegandt, received compensation of KEUR 

40 (previous year: KEUR 30). The Supervisory Board 

members Claas Kleyboldt, Hans Reischl and Bernhard 

Scholtes each received KEUR 30 (previous year: KEUR 

30). Dr. Matthias Händle, who was elected to the Su-

pervisory Board on 26 April 2006, received KEUR 21.
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The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Siegfried 

Kaske, continues to hold indirectly a total of 13,828,800 

shares of MAXDATA AG.

(29) Events after the balance sheet date

No signicant events occurred after the balance sheet 

date.

 Shares of the   Number

 Management and Supervisory   of shares

 Board, 31 December 2006 

 

Management Board  647

Supervisory Board  13,837,058



(30) List of consolidated subsidiaries

1) indirect holding of MAXDATA AG

Company % share Principal business activity

 in

 company 

MAXDATA International GmbH, Marl 100 Holding company for international sales companies

MAXDATA Computer GmbH, Marl 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers 

MAXDATA Computer GmbH, Vienna, Austria 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA Computer AG, Baar, Switzerland 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA UK Ltd., Bracknell, UK 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA Benelux B.V., Etten-Leur, Netherlands 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA S.A.R.L., Lisses, France 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA Iberia S.L., Madrid, Spain 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA Sp. z o.o., Warsaw, Poland 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA Italia S.r.l., Assago, Italy 1001) Sale and distribution of monitors and computers

MAXDATA Systeme GmbH, Würselen 100 Assembly of computers and repair 

  of computers and monitors

MAXDATA Immobilien Marl GmbH, Marl 100 Management of 

  the MAXDATA buildings in Marl

MAXDATA Immobilien Würselen GmbH, Marl 100 Holding company of MAXDATA   

  Grundstücksvermietungs-

  gesellschaft mbH & Co. OHG, Marll

MAXDATA Grundstücksvermietungs- 1001) Management of buildings

gesellschaft mbH & Co. OHG, Marl  of MAXDATA in Würselen

Triple Trian Beteiligungs-Verwaltungs GmbH, Marl 1001) General partner of Triple Trian 

  Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. KG,Marl

Triple Trian Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. KG, Marl 1001) Owner of an unmarketed monitor patent

ASIG Quality Services GmbH, Augsburg 741) Quality and source inspection
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(31) Auditor‘s fee

The audit fees of KEUR 316 (previous year: KEUR 294) 

include mainly fees for the year-end audit of the con-

solidated fi nancial statements, the auditors’ review of 

the interim consolidated fi nancial statements and the 

statutory audit of MAXDATA AG and the subsidiaries 

included in the consolidated fi nancial statements. The 

audit-related fees of KEUR 419 (previous year: KEUR 

11) essentially comprise fees for appraisal statements 

and auditing of the internal control system. The tax 

fees of KEUR 112 (previous year: KEUR 58) include in 

particular fees for the preparation of tax returns. The 

fees for other services of KEUR 105 (previous year: 

KEUR 0) are mainly fees for project related consulting 

services.

(32) Notes pursuant to Article 264 Para. 3 HGB

MAXDATA Systeme GmbH is fully consolidated in the 

fi nancial statements of the MAXDATA Group. Effective 

1 January 2001, a profi t and loss transfer agreement 

was entered into between MAXDATA Systeme GmbH 

and MAXDATA AG which was entered into the com-

mercial register of the Gelsenkirchen District Court on 

31 May 2002. In accordance with Article 264 Para. 3 

HGB, MAXDATA Systeme GmbH is exempted from 

preparation, audit and disclosure of statutory fi nancial 

statements in compliance with the supplementary 

rulings for corporations.

MAXDATA International GmbH is fully consolidated in 

the fi nancial statements of the MAXDATA Group. Ef-

fective 1 January 2002, a profi t and loss transfer agree-

ment was entered into between MAXDATA Interna-

tional GmbH and MAXDATA AG which was entered 

into the commercial register of the Gelsenkirchen 

District Court  on 6 June 2002. In accordance with Ar-

ticle 264 Para. 3 HGB MAXDATA International GmbH 

is exempted from preparation, audit and disclosure of 

statutory fi nancial statements in respect of the sup-

plementary standards in place for corporations.

MAXDATA Computer GmbH is fully consolidated in 

the fi nancial statements of the MAXDATA Group. Ef-

fective 1 January 2001, a profi t and loss transfer agree-

ment was entered into between MAXDATA Interna-

tional GmbH (previous name MAXDATA e-business 

GmbH) and MAXDATA AG which was entered into 

the commercial register of the Gelsenkirchen District 

Court  on 10 July 2001. In accordance with Article 264 

Para. 3 HGB MAXDATA Computer GmbH is exempted 

from preparation, audit and disclosure of statutory fi -

nancial statements in respect of the supplementary 

standards in place for corporations.

(33) Note in respect of Article 285 No 16 HGB

The declaration of compliance required by the Com-

mission for the German Corporate Governance Code 

pursuant to Article 161 was issued by the Manage-

ment Board and the Supervisory Board on 17 Febru-

ary 2006 and made permanently accessible to the 

shareholders on the website of MAXDATA AG at 

http://www.maxdata.de/unternehmen/investor_rela-

tions/corporate_governance/index.html 

Marl, 27 February 2007

MAXDATA AG  

Thomas Stiegler Reinhard Blunck  



We have audited the consolidated fi nancial state-

ments prepared by the MAXDATA AG, comprising the 

balance sheet, the income statement, statement of 

changes in equity, cash fl ow statement and the notes 

to the consolidated fi nancial statements, together 

with the group management report for the business 

year from 1 January to 31 December 2006. The prep-

aration of the consolidated fi nancial statements and 

the group management report in accordance with the 

IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and the additional re-

quirements of German commercial law pursuant to 

§ (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB („Handelsge-

setzbuch“: German Commercial Code) and supple-

mentary provisions of the articles of incorporation are 

the responsibility of the parent Company‘s Manage-

ment Board. Our responsibility is to express an opin-

ion on the consolidated fi nancial statements and on 

the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated fi nancial 

statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and Ger-

man generally accepted standards for the audit of 

fi nancial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Ger-

many) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit such that misstatements materially 

affecting the presentation of the net assets, fi nancial 

position and results of operations in the consolidated 

fi nancial statements in accordance with the applica-

ble fi nancial reporting framework and in the group 

management report are detected with reasonable 

assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and 

the economic and legal environment of the Group and 

expectations as to possible misstatements are taken 

into account in the determination of audit procedures. 

The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal 

control system and the evidence supporting the dis-

closures in the consolidated fi nancial statements and 

the group management report are examined prima-

rily on a test basis within the framework of the au-

dit. The audit includes assessing the annual fi nancial 

statements of those entities included in consolida-

tion, the determination of the entities to be included 

in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 

principles used and signifi cant estimates made by the 

Company´s Management Board, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the consolidated fi nancial 

statements and the group management report. We 

believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the fi ndings of our audit the 

consolidated fi nancial statements comply with the 

IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional re-

quirements of German commercial law pursuant to 

§ 315a Abs. 1 HGB and supplementary provisions of 

the articles of incorporation and give a true and fair 

view of the net assets, fi nancial position and results 

of operations of the Group in accordance with these 

requirements. The group management report is con-

sistent with the consolidated fi nancial statements and 

as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group‘s 

position and suitably presents the opportunities and 

risks of future development.

Essen, 27 February 2007

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(M. Theben) (ppa. D. Fouquet)

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüferin

(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)

Auditor’s Report
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The corporate culture of MAXDATA is characterized by its focus on the 
essential. This means that our customers' effi ciency is not only signifi cantly 
increased by every product and service offered by MAXDATA, but that our em-
ployees in all of their functions contribute as well. As a result, fl at hierarchies 
and ongoing personnel development are a hallmark of our IT company. <<

>>

Bodies 
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MAXDATA products for 

hotel management:

Belinea display 10 20 35 W

MAXDATA PC FAVORIT 100 XS



Thomas Stiegler
Thomas Stiegler, born 1957, is the Spokesman of the 

Management Board and is responsible for sales and 

marketing, fi nance/accounting, information services, 

controlling, risk management, human resources, le-

gal, investor relations and internal audit. The gradu-

ate economist joined the top management of the 

MAXDATA group in 1999 and has been a member of 

the MAXDATA AG Management Board since early 

2001.

Reinhard Blunck
Reinhard Blunck, born 1951, was nominated as a 

member of the Management Board in April 2004. His 

areas of responsibility include purchasing, production, 

logistics and service. Prior to becoming a member of 

the Management Board he was general manager of 

MAXDATA Systeme GmbH since May 2003, at the 

Marl and Würselen location.
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Siegfried Kaske 
 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of MAXDATA AG

Management Board of DIVACO Beteiligungs AG

Klaus Wiegandt
 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

of MAXDATA AG (as of 26.04.2006)

Dr. Matthias Händle
Chairman of the Management 

of Hamm-Reno Group GmbH & Co. KG

(as of 26.04.2006)

Claas Kleyboldt
 Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

of AXA Konzern AG

Hans Reischl
 Former Chairman of the Management Board 

of REWE Zentral AG

Bernhard Scholtes
 Managing Director of MHS Consult GmbH

 The Supervisory Board
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Dear shareholders,

During business year 2006 the Supervisory Board reg-

ularly monitored and advised the Management Board. 

The Management Board submitted to the Supervi-

sory Board comprehensive written and oral reports. 

Furthermore, the Management Board also provided 

detailed information on important projects, plans, and 

events to the Chairman of the Supervisory Board be-

tween meetings by means of written and telephone 

reports as well as in personal conversations, main-

taining the constant fl ow of information and exchange 

of opinions between the Supervisory Board and the 

Management Board. Regular meetings were held and 

resolutions were made based on detailed and com-

prehensive reports issued by the Management Board 

and by PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Essen, the appoint-

ed auditing fi rm. 

During these meetings, the Supervisory Board dealt 

in detail with matters such as the fi nancial situation, 

business performance, employment trends, annual 

accounts, consolidated fi nancial statements, and the 

strategic orientation of the company. For resolutions 

agreed and measures initiated by management which 

require approval based on legal regulations, articles 

of association, or bylaws, the members of the Super-

visory Board reviewed the corresponding information 

during the meetings or passed the resolutions based 

on written information (also by means of circulating 

voting forms). 

All in all, four ordinary meetings and four extraordinary 

meetings were held. Nearly all Supervisory Board 

members were present at these meetings. The Su-

pervisory Board met once with each one of its two 

committees – the personnel committee and audit 

committee. 

Since MAXDATA’s business performance was already 

lower than expected at the beginning of business year 

2006, the Supervisory Board’s main focus of control 

for the year was on the restructuring program which 

was approved at an extraordinary meeting held on 8 

March 2006. 

The restructuring program was initiated to improve 

the company’s bottom line. The program includes 

initiatives to stabilize turnover through sales-related 

measures and to optimize margins. It also focuses on 

adjusting cost structures, optimizing time-to-market 

management, reducing the number of components 

used for MAXDATA’s product range, and simplifying 

organizational structures. As of the balance sheet 

date, 234 jobs were lost throughout the group. 

Additional topics of the Supervisory Board meet-
ings held in 2006
The Supervisory Board held an extraordinary meeting 

on 1 February 2006. During this meeting, the Super-

visory Board mostly discussed the margins that were 

achieved in the previous business year with the Man-

agement Board. Various production models for the 

production facilities in Würselen were also discussed. 

Projects to improve the Group’s result, such as growth 

initiatives and measures to improve margins and opti-

mize costs were also subject to discussion. 

In business year 2006, restructuring measures were 

implemented to optimize the tax position of the 

MAXDATA Group. These measures were approved 

by the Supervisory Board and, for the most part, af-

fected MAXDATA Computer GmbH & Co. KG. For this 

purpose, MAXDATA Verwaltungs-GmbH merged with 

MAXDATA AG. As a result of this merger, the assets 

and liabilities of MAXDATA Computer GmbH & Co. KG 

were transferred to MAXDATA AG. Subsequently, the 

transferring company “MAXDATA Computer GmbH 

& Co. KG” was spun off to MAXDATA e-business 

GmbH. MAXDATA e-business GmbH was then re-

named MAXDATA Computer GmbH. Finally, all shares 

in MAXDATA Computer GmbH were transferred from 

MAXDATA AG to MAXDATA International GmbH. 

At the meeting on 17 February 2006, the annual ac-

counts and the consolidated fi nancial statements for 

the year ending 31 December 2005, as well as the 

Dependency Report including the corresponding audit 

reports as issued by the auditor, were presented and 

discussed by the Management Board with the auditor 

present. In particular, the deterioration of the result for 
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2005 compared to the preceding business year was 

analyzed. The deterioration was partially attributed to 

the high level of surplus inventories which resulted 

in an increase of existing inventory which in turn led 

to depreciation. To counteract this development, the 

Management Board here focused on generally reduc-

ing surplus materials by minimizing inventories and 

decreasing the present product variety. The measures 

were directly put into action.

Additionally, the further establishment of the installed 

early risk detection system, which is used to identify 

developments that could pose a threat to the exis-

tence of the Group, was discussed. In this regard,the 

auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft of Essen, incidentally 

confi rmed that MAXDATA’s early risk detection sys-

tem adequately identifi es risks that may pose a threat 

to the existence of the Group at an early stage. 

In addition to the early risk detection system, the audit 

by PricewaterCooper Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaft-

sprüfungsgesellschaft, Essen, also focused on the 

functionality of the computerized book-entry system, 

the revenue recognition process, as well as accounts 

receivable management, inventory management, cov-

erage management, provisions, and deferred taxes.

For MAXDATA, the Management Board and Super-

visory Board reported on corporate governance in 

accordance with Clause 3.10 Sentence 1 of the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code in the Annual Re-

port in the “Corporate Governance Report” section. 

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board 

issued the statement of compliance in accordance 

with Article 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 

(AktG) and made it permanently accessible on the 

company’s website.

Group-wide turnover and gross profi t development, as 

well as sales and average prices for the fi rst quarter of 

2006, were the subject of the meeting on 26 April 2006. 

Additionally, the Management Board also reported the 

newly implemented restructuring program. In this re-

gard, the Management Board once again stressed the 

necessity of streamlining the product mix and reducing 

the number of components used in products sold by 

MAXDATA. 

At a further extraordinary meeting held on 21 June 

2006 the Management Board reported on current 

business development. The session focused on de-

tailed information on measures that were approved 

in connection with the restructuring program, and, 

in particular, on the implemented staff adjustments. 

Additionally, the Management Board discussed set-

ting up a subsidiary in the form of an International 

Procurement Offi ce in Taipei, Taiwan, which would al-

low MAXDATA to be in a more direct contact with its 

Asian suppliers.

At the meeting on 20 September 2006, the Manage-

ment Board issued a report on the fi rst six months 

of 2006. The report focused on sales development 

and average prices for the company’s products. The 

continuous reports on the measures implemented in 

connection with the restructuring program also came 

to the fore. Additionally, the Management Board intro-

duced the key aspects of the amendments to the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code, which came into 

force on 12 June 2006. In this regard, conformance 

with the Law on the Compensation of Management 

Board members (VostOG) and regulations pertaining 

to shareholders’ meetings were discussed. The Man-

agement Board and the Supervisory Board fully com-

plied with the specifi ed amendments to the Code. 

The extraordinary meeting held on 10 October 2006 fo-

cused on the possibility of taking over Yakumo GmbH.  

The Management Board discussed the strategic value 

of such a take-over for the MAXDATA Group, such as 

the creation of a retail channel and synergy effects, 

particularly in the procurement area. 

At the Supervisory Board meeting held on 5 Decem-

ber 2006, the Management Board issued a report on 

the third quarter of 2006 and presented a forecast 

for the entire business year 2006. The situation in 

the currently relevant market was outlined based on 

a market research analysis. This analysis highlighted 
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the diffi cult environment of the business area in which 

MAXDATA is active. Another focus was planning for 

business year 2007. In particular, various optimization 

approaches for improving turnover and margin devel-

opment were discussed.

The Management Board also talked in this session 

about the status of negotiations for the planned take-

over of Yakumo GmbH. After an in-depth review, the 

Management Board ultimately decided not to acquire 

Yakumo GmbH. It came to the conclusion that the ac-

quisition of Yakumo essentially would not lead to the 

expected synergy effects and that a take-over would 

tie up needed resources.

Audit of the 2006 accounts
All annual accounting documents, the report on re-

lationships with affi liated companies, as well as the 

audit reports that were issued by the auditor were 

submitted to the Supervisory Board prior to the fi -

nancial statement meeting. PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 

Essen, the appointed auditor, confi rmed that an un-

qualifi ed audit opinion was issued on the individual 

fi nancial statements, as well as the consolidated fi -

nancial statements. The auditor also confi rmed that 

the content of the management report and group 

management report is accurate and that the fi nancial 

statements address all relevant areas. The audit of the 

Dependency Report did not lead to any objections. 

Furthermore, the auditor confi rmed that the fi nancial 

statements and the consolidated fi nancial statements 

give a true and fair view of the net assets, fi nancial 

position, and profi tability in accordance with the prin-

ciples of proper accounting.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the annual fi nancial 

statements, the consolidated fi nancial statements, 

MAXDATA AG’s management report, and the group 

management report prepared by the Management 

Board. The Supervisory Board adopts the statements 

of the Management Board issued in its group man-

agement report regarding Article 315 Para. 4 HGB. as 

well as the statements issued in its management re-

port regarding Article 289 Para. 4 HGB.

After submitting the fi nal results of its review no ob-

jections were made. The Supervisory Board endorsed 

the annual fi nancial statements for the year ending 

31 December 2006 including MAXDATA AG’s manage-

ment report; this constitutes the offi cial confi rmation 

of the annual fi nancial statements. The Supervisory 

Board also endorsed the consolidated fi nancial state-

ments including the group management report.

Furthermore, in accordance with Article 312 of the 

AktG, the Management Board prepared a report on 

relationships with affi liated companies for business 

year 2006 and submitted this report in good time for 

the Supervisory Board‘s fi nancial statement meeting. 

The auditor also reviewed this report, reported in writ-

ing on the results of the audit, and issued the follow-

ing opinion:

“As per our dutiful audit and assessment, we hereby 

confi rm that

1. the factual information in this report is correct,

2. for the legal transactions listed in the report, the 

company performance was not unreasonably high or 

drawbacks were balanced,

3. with regard to the measures listed in the report, no 

circumstances favor a signifi cantly different evaluation 

from the one issued by the Management Board.”

Following the fi nal results of its review, the Supervi-

sory Board did not state any objections to the state-

ment made by the Management Board in its report 

in accordance with Article 312 of the AktG or against 

issuing the audit opinion.
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Changes to the Supervisory Board
At the shareholders’ meeting on 26 April 2006, Dr. 

Matthias Händle was newly elected to the Supervi-

sory Board. On the same day, a new Deputy Chairman 

for the Supervisory Board was elected to address Dr. 

Böhmer’s resignation from his seat on the Supervisory 

Board with effect from 31 December 2005. Mr. Klaus 

Wiegandt was appointed new Deputy Chairman.

Changes to the Management Board
With effect from 8 March 2006 and in agreement with 

the Supervisory Board, Mr. Jürgen Renz resigned 

his position as a member and spokesman of the 

MAXDATA AG Management Board. Thomas Stiegler, 

who has been a member of the Management Board 

and CFO since 2001, took over the sales and market-

ing functions as well as the post of spokesman from 

Jürgen Renz.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Man-

agement Board and the employees of the MAXDATA 

Group for their support and hard work.

Marl, 27 February 2007

The Supervisory Board

Siegfried Kaske, Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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articles of association the MAXDATA AG Management

Board consists of at least two members. Notwith-

standing this, the Supervisory Board determines the

number of Management Board members. Amend-

ments to the Articles of Association are governed by

Part 6 of the AktG. In accordance with the Articles of

Association, the Supervisory Board is authorized to

make amendments to the Articles of Association that

only affect the wording thereof. The Supervisory

Board is also authorized to modify the Articles of Asso-

ciation to reflect a change in capital stock.

At the annual general meeting of MAXDATA AG on 27

May 1999, the shareholders approved a conditional

increase in the share capital of MAXDATA AG of up to

KEUR 480 (contingent capital I) by issue of up to

480,000 new no-par-value bearer shares. This condi-

tional increase in capital serves to ensure the sub-

scription rights of employees, members of the man-

agement board of MAXDATA AG, its subsidiaries, as

well as of companies affiliated with MAXDATA AG

within the meaning of Article 15 et seq. of the German

Stock Corporation Law (AktG) in Switzerland, Austria,

the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands in accor-

dance with the conditions set in the authorizing reso-

lution of the annual general meeting of 27 May 1999.

The conditional increase in capital may only be under-

taken to the extent that those entitled to subscription

rights within the framework of the employee share

option plan exercise their subscription rights. The new

shares carry profit participation rights from the begin-

ning of the business year in which they originate

through the exercise of subscription rights.

Share option plan
MAXDATA issued a share option plan in 1999 when its

IPO occurred. This share option plan allowed options

to be granted to employees and members of the man-

agement board of MAXDATA AG and its subsidiaries

for no consideration previous to 31 December 2000

entitling bearers to purchase a total of 480,000 bearer

shares pursuant to the authorization passed by resolu-

tion of the annual general meeting on 27 May 1999.

MAXDATA AG (hereinafter also called “the Company”)

is registered in the Commercial Register of the Local

Court of Gelsenkirchen under HRB 5552. The Com-

pany’s registered offices are in Marl.

The Company’s business purposes include holding

and administering shares in other companies, and in

managing them and optimizing the further develop-

ment of their organizational, management, and sub-

sidiary structures, as well as establishing, acquiring,

and disposing of such companies.

The annual accounts of MAXDATA AG for the 2006

business year have been drawn up in accordance with

the regulations of the HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch =

German Commercial Code), taking into consideration

the supplementary regulations of the AktG (Aktienge-

setz = German Stock Companies Act). They will be

published in their entirety in the electronic Bundes-

anzeiger (German Federal Gazette).

Furthermore, the Management Board has drawn up a

Dependency Report for the 2006 business year, in

accordance with Article 312, Para. 1 of AktG. In this

report the Board comes to the following conclusion:

“In all legal transactions with the affiliated companies,

the Company has always received an appropriate con-

sideration in light of the circumstances at the time

when the legal transaction was undertaken. It has

thus not been put at a disadvantage by any such trans-

action.”

Information and comments provided in accor-
dance with Article 289 Para. 4 of the German Com-
mercial Code (HGB)
MAXDATA AG’s capital stock is made up of

29,000,000 ordinary bearer shares with a proportional

sum of the capital stock of EUR 1.00 per share. As of

the balance sheet date, MAXDATA holds 1,000,000 of

its own shares (previous year: 1,000,000 shares) with

no voting rights. The appointment of the Management

Board is governed by Articles 84 et seq. of the Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and its withdrawal

by Article 84 Para. 3 of the AktG. As required by the

Management Report
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The exercise price for each option was fixed at EUR 31

in agreement with the price of MAXDATA shares 

at their first issue. The options are only exercisable

under the precondition that the market price of the 

MAXDATA share has on the average increased by at

least 1 percentage point per month as against the

issue price, i.e. on average at least 12 percentage

points per year as against the issue price. This means

that the share price would have had to have increased

by 36 percentage points as against its price at first

issue by 9 June 2002 – the first possible date the first

tranche (30 percent of the options) could be exer-

cised. If the options are not exercisable within the

vesting period (three years following the first trading

day), as the increase in value of the share did not

occur as provided, the options will become exercis-

able at a later stage within the life of the options

(which expires on 8 June 2009), if the market price of

the shares has increased on average by at least 1 per-

centage point per month. If the market price of the

MAXDATA share does not reach the increase required

by an average of 12 percentage points per year on the

first possible exercise dates, the options of the sec-

ond and third tranche will become exercisable at 

the date on which the average market price of the

MAXDATA share on the last 30 trading days has

reached the market price as adjusted correspondingly.

The market price within the meaning of the foregoing

is the average market price of the MAXDATA share

calculated on the basis of the closing prices on the

Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the last 30 trading days

of each 12 month period measured on the calendar

day on which the shares were first issued. If the mar-

ket price increases by the required amount, the

options which vest in this way will remain exercisable

until the expiry of the life of the option, even if the

market price were to decrease again subsequently. As

of 31 December 2005, 61,384 options to purchase

61,384 shares had been granted. Owing to employee

turnover, the number of options outstanding has fallen

to 47,884 as of 31 December 2006. Under the

accounting policy adopted by the Group no compen-

sation expense is recognized under the share option

plan.

In accordance with legal regulations, Mr. Holger Lam-

patz informed the company in April 2002 that he 

currently holds 20.88 percent of the voting rights in 

MAXDATA AG. 

FoMax GmbH, Langenburg, made it known in Novem-

ber 2004 that it currently holds 47.67 percent of the

voting rights in the company. At the same time, Mr.

Siegfried Kaske announced that the voting rights held

by FoMax GmbH are attributed to him.

Share development 
MAXDATA AG placed its shares on the Frankfurt stock

exchange on 9 June 1999 and has been listed in the

prime standard segment since 1 January 2003. The

difficult market conditions prevented the share from

following the general upward trend of the stock mar-

ket in 2006, and the share considerably lost in value

over the course of the year. As such, the share price

on 29 December 2006 was EUR 1.63, representing a

53.1 percent loss on its level of EUR 3.07 at the begin-

ning of the year.

Financial and profit situation
The MAXDATA AG results are predominantly depend-

ent upon the business development of the domestic

and foreign affiliated companies.

The Company’s equity declined in comparison to the

previous year from EUR 145.6 million to EUR 97.9 

million. 

The loss carried forward totaling EUR 37.4 million and

the net loss of EUR 47.7 million for the year, as well 

as withdrawals from reserves for own shares due to

the required depreciation of own shares totaling EUR

1.5 million, resulted in an accumulated loss of EUR

83.6 million.
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The following group-internal restructuring measures,

which did not affect the net assets, financial and profit

situation of MAXDATA AG were concluded in the 2006

business year: MAXDATA Verwaltungs-GmbH merged

with MAXDATA AG as of 1 January 2006. As a 

result of the merger, the assets of MAXDATA Com-

puter GmbH & Co. KG were assigned to MAXDATA

AG. Subsequently, the Group company “MAXDATA

Computer GmbH & Co. KG ALT“ was spun off and its

assets were transferred to MAXDATA e-business

GmbH. MAXDATA e-business GmbH was later

renamed MAXDATA Computer GmbH. Finally, all

shares in MAXDATA Computer GmbH were transferred

from MAXDATA AG to MAXDATA International GmbH.

The net loss comprises the results of MAXDATA Com-

puter GmbH, Marl, MAXDATA Systeme GmbH, Würse-

len, MAXDATA International GmbH, Marl, MAXDATA

Immobilien Marl GmbH, Marl, and MAXDATA Immo-

bilien Würselen GmbH, Marl. These results were col-

lected and balanced respectively based on existing

profit and loss transfer agreements with MAXDATA AG.

MAXDATA AG’s negative result is mainly due to the

transfer of losses from MAXDATA Systeme GmbH,

Würselen, amounting to EUR –19.2 million (previous

year: EUR –6.9 million), and from MAXDATA Interna-

tional GmbH, Marl, amounting to EUR –21.6 million

(previous year: EUR –7.6 million). MAXDATA Systeme

GmbH’s negative result can be attributed to the under-

utilization of the company's production facilities and

restructuring measures. The operating result of 

MAXDATA International GmbH, Marl, is partly

effected by losses of foreign subsidiaries amounting

to EUR 19.0 million (previous year: EUR 3.8 million)

and partly due to profit distributions of other foreign

subsidiaries amounting to EUR 2.7 million (previous

year: EUR 2.1 million).

Additionally, MAXDATA AG’s result includes the profit

absorption of MAXDATA Computer GmbH, totaling

EUR 5.0 million (previous year: EUR –3.3 million), of

MAXDATA Immobilien Marl GmbH, Marl, totaling EUR

1.3 million (previous year: EUR 1.2 million) and of

MAXDATA Immobilien Würselen GmbH, Marl, of EUR

0.6 million (previous year: EUR 0.7 million).

The other financial result of MAXDATA AG is attribut-

able to a rise in interest income to EUR 5.9 million (pre-

vious year: EUR 4.4 million) and a lower book value of

own shares which was depreciated by EUR 1.5 million

(previous year: appreciation of EUR 0.1 million).

The profit from exchange rates in the business year

was EUR 1.3 million (previous year: EUR 2.2 million).

The cash flow from the current operating activities

totals EUR 9.0 million (previous year: EUR –14.7 mil-

lion) and is influenced by the operating result and the

reciprocal decrease in net receivables from and to

affiliated companies and the other assets. The

decrease in net receivables in the amount of EUR 50.0

million can mainly be attributed to the fact that several

subsidiaries of the Group sold receivables in the

amount of KEUR 41,080 (previous year: KEUR 0) as of

31 December 2006 within the framework of a factor-

ing agreement. As a result, cash and cash equivalents

rose from EUR 19.0 million in 2005 to EUR 28.9 mil-

lion in 2006. Despite a downturn, the Company’s

equity ratio remains at a high level of 55.1 percent

(previous year: 65.2 percent), thus securing the Com-

pany a very high degree of financial independence.

Employees
The average number of employees of the Company

in the 2006 business year was 79 (previous year:

32). As of 31 December 2006, the Company had 72

employees (31 December 2005: 36).

Main features of Management Board 
remuneration
Remuneration of Management Board members is

comprised of two components, the “annual basic

salary” and the “bonus.” Goals for profit-based

bonuses for the following year are set annually for

the MAXDATA AG Management Board members.

The assessment is carried out by the Supervisory

Board’s human resources committee, which takes



into account quantitative and qualitative criteria. The

calculation of the goal attained and the amount of

the bonus is made on the basis of the corresponding

annual profit or loss. Payout is made along with the

normal monthly salary payment or at the time when

the annual company profit or loss is determined.

In connection with the stock option plan from 1999,

Management Board member Thomas Stiegler

received 3,000 option rights. Because the price of

MAXDATA shares underlying the options plan does

not currently create enhancement of value, the

stock options are not valued as intended in the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code (Clause 4.2.3 Para.

3, sentence 2).

Events after the balance sheet date
No significant events occurred after the balance sheet

date.

Risk management
Risk management is of high significance to the 

MAXDATA group. MAXDATA operates as a corporate

group throughout Europe, and is thus confronted

with a number of potential risks. Corporate risks are

only knowingly taken if their potential consequences

can be controlled. The Management Board and

Supervisory Board are regularly informed about risks

that could have a major bearing on the development

of the business. 

The MAXDATA group employs a detailed risk man-

agement system to identify, analyze and document

the major risks that could jeopardize the viability of

the group. Corporate decisions are made on the

basis of extensive project documents individually

itemizing the opportunities and risks in any given

case. Moreover, the annual and mid-year strategic

planning sessions serve as a vehicle for assessing

the opportunities and risks of all the operating activ-

ities and deciding on means of attaining objectives

and limiting risk.

The MAXDATA group focuses its purchasing activi-

ties on the Asian market, which is denominated in

US dollars. European sales are predominantly han-

dled in euro, exposing the MAXDATA group to

exchange rate and price fluctuation risks in its busi-

ness activities. MAXDATA AG confronts these risks

with a centralized, active currency management sys-

tem, using standard risk-reducing financing instru-

ments, such as currency swaps and foreign

exchange futures trading and spot trading.

Moreover, the future development of MAXDATA

may entail risks inherent within its subsidiaries.

Essentially these risks ensue from increasing com-

petition, receivables management, a decline in

prices while stocks are high or low inventory

turnover, from goods procurement and dependency

on individual suppliers, maintenance of high quality

standards, dependency on resources in the areas of

information technology and human resources as

well as insurance and communication risks.

Forecast/Outlook
The World Bank forecasts growth of 4.5 percent for the

global economy in 2007. According to experts, global

economic growth has reached a turning point and a

slow-down is anticipated. This can mostly be attributed

to the economic situation in the USA. However,

according to forecasts from the World Bank, the newly

industrialized countries will remain the major driving

forces of the global economy.

In the Euro zone, much slower growth is anticipated.

Based on this assumption, economic growth of 2.2

percent is expected. The devaluation of the US dollar

and currencies that are linked to it will most likely lower

the competitiveness of products from the Euro zone. 

In Germany, the economic upturn, which is primarily

driven by exports and investments, will continue in

2007. However, the speed of growth is expected to
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slow down significantly, at least temporarily. This can

mostly be attributed to the rise in VAT and the expected

excess supply due to sales that were anticipated in

2006. Overall gross domestic product will rise by 1.4

percent.

Large companies will invest less in IT in 2007 than orig-

inally expected. According to US market research ana-

lysts, companies will increasingly focus on ensuring that

their IT systems support their core business and on opti-

mizing IT-related expenses. 

Market researchers expect that global IT spending will

only increase by 5 percent in 2007 (3 percent less than

in the previous year). This decline in spending for hard-

ware and software can mostly be attributed to the situ-

ation in the USA. The slowdown in the biggest market

for IT products and services world-wide has a substan-

tial effect. In the information technology and telecom-

munications sectors, growth of 4 percent is expected

for the Western European market. An increase of 4 per-

cent for computers, which is the relevant field for 

MAXDATA, is also being forecasted for 2007.

In line with the restructuring program that was initiated

in 2006, the company has implemented various meas-

ures to resolve the dissatisfactory situation that was

experienced in 2006. These efforts are aimed at improv-

ing profitability, optimizing product and process quality,

as well as stabilizing turnover for the 2007 business

year. Restructuring measures which were initiated in

2006 will lead to cost savings and an improvement in

the profit situation for 2007. The main goal is to

strengthen the company’s position so that it can

become profitable again in the medium term.

This management report contains statements that

relate to the future development of the MAXDATA

group and its companies as well as to economic devel-

opments. These statements present opinions that

MAXDATA has formed on the basis of all the informa-

tion available at the present time. Should these

assumptions not be correct or should further risks

arise, actual results may differ from the results cur-

rently anticipated. MAXDATA therefore cannot offer

any guarantee for these statements.

Marl, 27 February 2007

The Management Board

Thomas Stiegler Reinhard Blunck 
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Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2006

Assets 2006 2005

KEUR KEUR

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets

Trademarks, licenses and similar rights 2,122 4,249

Tangible fixed assets

Other equipment, fixtures, fittings and equipment 1,010 384

Financial assets

Shares in affiliated companies 32,538 32,473

Loans to affiliated companies 32,615 39,103

65,153 71,576

68,285 76,209

Current assets

Accounts receivable and other assets

Accounts receivable from affiliated companies 72,565 119,647

Other assets 2,862 2,008

75,427 121,655

Marketable securities

Repurchased shares 1,630 3,070

Other securities 3,356 3,259

4,986 6,329

Checks, cash in hand, cash in banks 28,873 18,960

109,286 146,944

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 212 328

177,783 223,481

08



Equity and Liabilities 2006 2005

KEUR KEUR

Equity

Capital subscribed 29,000 29,000

Capital reserves 150,899 150,899

Earnings reserves 

Reserves for repurchased shares 1,630 3,070

Accumulated loss –83,585 –37,356

97,944 145,613

Provisions

Tax provisions 47 0

Other provisions 5,690 5,853

5,737 5,853

Liabilities

Trade accounts payable 4,715 6,385

- thereof, with a residual term of up to one year: 

KEUR 4,715 (previous year: KEUR 6,385)

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 68,028 65,097

- thereof, with a residual term of up to one year: 

KEUR 68,028 (previous year: KEUR 65,097)

Other liabilities 905 389

- thereof, with a residual term of up to one year:

KEUR 905 (previous year: KEUR 389)

- thereof, for taxes: KEUR 114 (previous year: KEUR 64)

- thereof, for social security: KEUR 8 (previous year: KEUR 44)

73,648 71,871

Deferred income 454 144

177,783 223,481
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2006 2005

KEUR KEUR

Other operating income 52,225 59,314

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries –5,422 –2,752

Social security –743 –288

Depreciation and amortization for  

intangible assets, plant, equipment and other fixed assets –3,139 –2,785

Other operating expenses –55,864 –65,692

Income from profit transfer agreements 6,860 1,876

Income from investments

and other long-term financial assets  64 302

Write-up on marketable securities 0 70

Other interest and similar income 5,876 4,371 

thereof, from affiliated companies: KEUR 4,903 (previous year: KEUR 3,460)

Write-offs of financial assets and marketable securities –5,330 0

Expenses from loss transfers 0 –3,349

thereof, to affiliated companies: KEUR 0 (previous year: KEUR 3,349)

Expenses from loss transfers

due to profit transfer agreements –40,760 –14,479 

Interest and similar expenses –1,489 –1,176

thereof, to affiliated companies: KEUR 1,365 (previous year: KEUR 713)

Loss from ordinary operations –47,722 –24,588

Taxes on income 106 0

Other taxes –77 – 3

Net loss –47,693 –24,591

Loss brought forward from previous year –37,356 –12,696

Transfer to reserves for repurchased shares 0 –70

Release of reserves for repurchased shares 1,440 0

Profit from merger 24 0

Accumulated loss –83,585 –37,356

Income Statement 
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A. General information on the Company

Incorporation, Commercial Register, Registered
Offices
MAXDATA AG (hereinafter called “the Company”) was

founded on 11 May 1999 by a change of legal form. The

Company is registered in the Commercial Register of

the Local Court of Gelsenkirchen under HRB 5552. The

Company’s registered offices are in Marl.

Business of the Company
According to its Articles of Association, the purpose for

which the Company has been formed is to hold and

administer shares in companies, and to manage them,

particularly those concerned with the production of,

and trading with, computers and with trading in com-

puter peripheral equipment of all kinds, including the

provision of all related services. Managing these com-

panies also includes producing, optimizing, and further

developing their organizational, management, and cor-

porate structures, in particular the establishment,

acquisition, and disposal of other companies, company

groups, and company subsidiaries and participation in

other companies. It is also part of the Company’s pur-

pose to acquire and rent plots of land, with or without

buildings. The Company is authorized to take all meas-

ures and actions connected with its business or likely to

serve it. It can also undertake activities on its own

behalf in the aforementioned fields of business.   

Own shares
Based on the previous authorization to repurchase

shares, the Company still possessed at the end of the

2006 business year 1,000,000 company shares with a

book value share of the capital stock totaling EUR

1,000,000.00.

The Company’s share of the capital stock thus

remains at 3.45 percent.

Group relationships
The Company’s business activities relate not only to

its business purposes as defined in its Articles of

Association, but also primarily to the reliable provision

of adequate liquidity and hedging of the currency risk

for the entire MAXDATA group. It also ensures the

financing of investments and acquisitions as well as

the expansion of the group’s international presence.

The statement of shareholdings was prepared sepa-

rately and has been deposited with the Commercial

Register of the Local Court of Gelsenkirchen under

number HRB 5552.

B. General information on the annual accounts

The annual financial statements for the business year

from 1 January to 31 December 2006 are written in

accordance with the statutory accounting require-

ments of the HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch = German

Commercial Code) for all businesses (Article 242 et

seq. HGB), the amendments for large joint stock com-

panies (Article 264 et seq. HGB) and AktG (Aktienge-

setz = German Stock Companies Act).

The income statement has been prepared according

to the nature of expenses method in accordance with

Article 275, Para. 2 HGB.

Unless otherwise indicated, the annual financial state-

ments have been prepared in euro thousand (KEUR).

Notes to the Accounts
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C. Accounting and valuation principles

Intangible fixed assets acquired for payment have

been shown on the assets side of the balance sheet

at their acquisition cost, and depreciated on a linear

basis over their expected useful lives. 

The tangible fixed assets are valued at their cost of

acquisition or manufacture, minus scheduled and non-

scheduled depreciation. Depreciation mainly uses the

linear method. Buildings are depreciated over a maxi-

mum of 25 years, and operational and business

machinery over 3 to 20 years. If the reasons for

extraordinary depreciation no longer apply, write-ups

are made. Low-value assets with acquisition costs of

EUR 60 to 410 are written off completely in the year 

of acquisition. Those with acquisition costs of up to

EUR 60 are booked as expenses upon purchase. 

Financial assets are valued at their cost of acquisition

or, with non-transient impairment, at their attributable

fair value as of the balance sheet date.

Accounts receivable and other assets are shown at

their nominal values. Accounts receivable have been

written down appropriately to reflect recognizable

risks. 

Accounts receivable in foreign currencies are con-

verted at the exchange rate in force on the outgoing

date of the relevant invoice or on the effective balance

sheet date if this is lower.

Short-term security investments are valued at their

cost of acquisition or, respectively, at their attributable

fair value as of the balance sheet date, if lower. Own
shares are valued at the rate in force on the balance

sheet date.

Expenditure before the cut-off date is listed as pre-
paid expenses and deferred charges if it represents

expenses for a certain period after that day.

The other provisions are formed to cover recogniza-

ble risks and uncertain liabilities as of the balance

sheet date, and set at the level required by prudent

commercial judgment.

Liabilities are valued at the amount due for payment.

Liabilities in foreign currencies are converted at the

exchange rate in force on the date of receipt of the

relevant invoice, or on the balance sheet date if this

was higher.

Income obtained before the balance sheet date is

listed as deferred income and represents earnings for

a specific period after this date.
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D. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Income
Statement

1. Notes to the Balance Sheet

Fixed assets

At cost

01.01.2006 Additions Disposals 31.12.2006

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Intangible fixed assets

Trademarks, licenses and similar rights 11,505 681 0 12,186

Tangible fixed assets

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 634 978 43 1,569

Financial assets

Shares in affiliated companies 35,301 27,689 30,452 32,538

Loans to affiliated companies 39,103 4,390 6,988 36,505

74,404 32,079 37,440 69,043

86,543 33,738 37,483 82,798

Accumulated depreciation                                        Net book value

01.01.2006 Depreciation Disposals 31.12.2006 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

during

business year

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Intangible fixed assets

Trademarks,  

licenses and similar rights 7,256 2,808 0 10,064 2,122 4,249

Tangible fixed assets

Other equipment,   

furniture and fixtures 250 331 22 559 1,010 384

Financial assets

Shares in affiliated companies 2,828 0 2,828 0 32,538 32,473

Loans to affiliated companies 0 3,890 0 3,890 32,615 39,103

2,828 3,890 2,828 3,890 65,153 71,576

10,334 7,029 2,850 14,513 68,285 76,209
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Company of 27 May 1999 authorized the following

contingent capital (“contingent capital”): 

The Company’s share capital will be increased by a

maximum of EUR 480,000 through the issue of up to

480,000 new registered ordinary shares. The condi-

tional capital increase will serve the purpose of 

granting subscription rights to the employees, board

members and company officers of MAXDATA AG and

its subsidiaries, and the companies affiliated to 

MAXDATA AG, within the meaning of Article 15 et seq.

of AktG, in Switzerland, Austria, Great Britain, and the

Netherlands, within the bounds set by the extraordi-

nary general meeting of 27 May 1999. The conditional

capital increase will only be carried out to the extent

that those who hold option rights make use of their

subscription rights. The new shares participate in prof-

its from the beginning of the financial year in which

they are issued.

Within the terms of the resolution of the extraordinary

general meeting, the Supervisory and Management

Boards are authorized to define the further details of

the granting of option rights and the powers they

entail, including the terms and conditions of exchange.

The Supervisory Board is the sole authority for grant-

ing option rights to members of the Management

Board. 

The Company will grant up to 480,000 subscription

rights, valid for one share each, thus totaling up to

480,000 shares, to those entitled to subscription rights. 

The earnings reserves amounted to KEUR 1,630 on

the balance sheet date. They relate only to the reserve

for own shares. The amount is calculated based on the

cumulated acquisition costs for the shares (KEUR

9,270) and a cumulated withdrawal relating to the

depreciation to the lowest stock exchange price of the

shares on the balance sheet date (KEUR 7,640). The

repurchased shares are shown as marketable securi-

ties in the balance sheet on the assets side, under cur-

rent assets.

Accounts receivable and other assets
As of 31 December 2006, all the accounts receivable

and other assets were due within one year.

Financial Instruments
Raw materials, components and goods are predomi-

nantly purchased by the corporate group in US dollars,

while sales are mostly conducted in other currencies.

MAXDATA AG manages the currency exchange risk,

resulting from the cash flows (expected) from operat-

ing activities that are stated in the foreign currency, by

various types of foreign currency transactions, such as

currency swaps and forward exchange transactions

and exchange spot transactions.

Credit institutions evaluate these transactions using

the discounted cash flow method. Options are evalu-

ated using the option price model.

At the balance sheet date, there were currency swaps

and forward trading to buy/sell foreign currency total-

ing a nominal KEUR 64,032 (previous year: KEUR

79,485), whose fair value came to KEUR 89 (previous

year: KEUR 301). This includes anticipated losses total-

ing KEUR 56 (previous year: KEUR 234), which are

accounted for with other provisions. At the balance

sheet date, the residual term of these transactions

was less than three months.

Capital Structure of the Company
The Company currently has a capital base of EUR

29,000,000 made up of 29 million ordinary shares with

a theoretical share in the share capital of EUR 1, and

documented with global certificates. The shareholders

have no right to individual documentation of their

shares. The shares are freely transferable. 

In order to enable the participation of members of the

Company’s Management Board, the executive bodies

of its management, and subsidiary companies inside

and outside Germany, as well as other senior man-

agers and employees of the Company and its sub-

sidiaries, the extraordinary general meeting of the
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Provisions
The composition of other provisions is as shown

below:

2. Notes to the Income Statement

Other operating income consists primarily of income

from license royalties and other costs passed on to

affiliated companies as well as advertising subsidies

passed on to subsidiaries totaling KEUR 37,879 (previ-

ous year: KEUR 50,733).

The other operating expenses are made up as

shown below.

3. Contingencies

Contingencies as defined in Article 251 HGB consist

of KEUR 10,000 bank guarantees in favor of affiliated

companies. Furthermore, MAXDATA AG has joint and

several liability for all claims of a factor that arise from

a factoring agreement with affiliated companies.

4. Other financial obligations

There are no future financial obligations of note.

5. Average number of employees

During the reporting year, MAXDATA AG had an aver-

age of 79 employees (previous year: 32).

Other provisions 2006 2005

KEUR KEUR

Outstanding invoices 5,055 5,290

Impending losses 56 234

Other 579 329

5,690 5,853

Other operating expenses 2006 2005

KEUR KEUR

Other operating expenses  

passed on to subsidiaries   

and from credits to subsidiaries

License royalties 33,040 44,940

Advertising subsidies 2,769 3,440

Insurance 1,149 1,268

Other 921 1,085

37,879 50,733

Other operating expenses

Exchange losses 6,251 2,287

IT services 4,534 3,735

Fees 4,275 2,572

Advertising expenses 363 484

Exchange losses  

compensation paid to subsidiaries 0 3,607

Other 2,562 2,274

17,985 14,959

55,864 65,692
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6. Audit fees

Audit fees amounted to KEUR 181 (previous year:

KEUR 167) and include, in particular, the audit of the

consolidated financial statements and individual finan-

cial statements of MAXDATA AG, as well as the

review of the interim financial statements. Fees for

other certification and consulting services amounted

to KEUR 419 (previous year: KEUR 11) and are mostly

comprised of fees arising from expert opinions and

the examination of the internal control system. Tax

consulting fees amounted to KEUR 112 (previous year:

KEUR 58) and, in particular, include fees for current tax

consulting services. Other fees amounted to KEUR

105 (previous year: KEUR 0) and are primarily com-

prised of fees for project-specific consulting services.

7. Remuneration of the Management Board
and the Supervisory Board

In the business year 2006, total remuneration of the

Group Management Board totaled approximately

KEUR 914 (previous year: KEUR 895). In the business

year 2006, Thomas Siegler, Spokesman of the Man-

agement Board, received total remuneration in the

amount of KEUR 322 (previous year: KEUR 320) com-

prising fixed components only. Reinhard Blunck,

member of the Management Board, received pay-

ment of KEUR 257 for his work on the board in 2006

(previous year: KEUR 256), which was comprised

exclusively of fixed components. In agreement with

Shares and share options of the Number Number

Management Board and Supervisory of share of shares

Board as of 31 December 2006 options

Management Board 3,000 647

Supervisory Board - 13,837,058

the Supervisory Board, Jürgen Renz resigned his posi-

tion as of 8 March 2006. He received total remunera-

tion in the amount of KEUR 335 (previous year: KEUR

319), which includes a compensation in the amount of

KEUR 225. 

The members of the Supervisory Board received a

fixed total remuneration of KEUR 211 in 2006 (previ-

ous year: KEUR 225). Siegfried Kaske, Chairman of

the Supervisory Board, received KEUR 60 (previous

year: KEUR 60). In the business year, the Deputy

Chairman, Klaus Wiegandt, received compensation of

KEUR 40 (previous year: KEUR 30). The Supervisory

Board members, Claas Kleyboldt, Hans Reischl, and

Bernhard Scholtes, each received KEUR 30 (previous

year: KEUR 30). Dr. Matthias Händle, who was newly

elected to serve on the Supervisory Board as of 26

April 2006, received KEUR 21.

8. Shares and share options of the Management
Board and Supervisory Board as of 31 December
2006



Executive Bodies Membership of other Membership of comparable 
statutorily formed Supervisory Boards supervisory bodies of companies 

in Germany and abroad

Members of the Management Board

Thomas Stiegler
(Spokesman of the Management Board MAXDATA Systeme GmbH
since 08.03.2006) (Chairman) (to 06.10.2006)
(Deputy Spokesman of the 
Management Board to 07.03.2006)

Reinhard Blunck
Primegate AG (Member of the 
Advisory Board)

Jürgen Renz
(Spokesman of the Management Board 
to 08.03.2006)

Members of the Supervisory Board

Siegfried Kaske
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of DFH Deutsche Fertighaus Holding AG Hamm-Reno Group GmbH & Co. KG
MAXDATA AG (Chairman) (Chairman of the Advisory Board)
Management Board of DIVACO Massa AG (Chairman) (to 13.06.2006)
Beteiligungs AG VOBIS AG (Chairman)

VOBIS Microcomputer AG (Chairman)

Klaus Wiegandt
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board  Pironet AG (Chairman) Hamm-Reno Group GmbH & Co. KG
of MAXDATA AG (Member of the Advisory Board) 

Dr. Matthias Händle
Chairman of the Management of 
Hamm-Reno Group GmbH & Co. KG

Claas Kleyboldt
Chairman of the Supervisory Board AXA Konzern AG (Chairman) AXA Art Insurance Corporation, New York
of AXA Konzern AG AXA Lebensversicherung AG AXA Art Insurance Limited, London

(Chairman) Triton Private Equity Fond
AXA Service AG (Chairman) (Chairman)
AXA Versicherung AG (Chairman) M. DuMont Schauberg GmbH & Co. KG
Hapag Lloyd AG (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Hans Reischl
Former Chairman of the Management  Alte Leipziger Holding AG Commerzbank AG
Board of REWE Zentral AG Alte Leipziger Versicherungsges. aG (Member of Advisory Board)

Eurohyp AG Deichmann Schuhe GmbH & Co.
KarstadtQuelle AG Vertriebs KG (Member of the

Advisory Board)
Cerberus Global Investments, LLC
New York

Bernhard Scholtes
Managing Director of  DFH Deutsche Fertighaus Holding AG
MHS Consult GmbH

Further information on the members of the Manage-

ment and Supervisory Boards can be found in the fol-

lowing table.
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9. Note in respect of Article 285, No. 16 of HGB

On 17 February 2006 the Management Board and

Supervisory Board filed the declaration required by the

Government Commission on the German Corporate

Governance Code, pursuant to Article 161 of AktG and

made it permanently available to the shareholders on

the MAXDATA AG website at  

www.maxdata.de/unternehmen/investor_relations/

corporate_governance/index.html  

10. Events after the balance sheet date

No significant events occurred after the balance sheet

date.

Marl, 27. Februar 2007

MAXDATA AG

Der Vorstand

Thomas Stiegler Reinhard Blunck



We have audited the annual financial statements,

comprising the balance sheet, the income statement

and the notes to the financial statements, together

with the bookkeeping system, and the management

report of the MAXDATA AG for the business year

from 1 January to 31 December 2006. The mainte-

nance of the books and records and the preparation

of the annual financial statements and management

report in accordance with German commercial law

and supplementary provisions of the articles of incor-

poration are the responsibility of the Company’s Man-

agement Board. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the annual financial statements, together

with the bookkeeping system, and the management

report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the annual financial state-

ments in accordance with § (Article) 317 HGB ("Han-

delsgesetzbuch": "German Commercial Code") and

German generally accepted standards for the audit of

financial statements promulgated by the Institut der

Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Ger-

many) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan

and perform the audit such that misstatements mate-

rially affecting the presentation of the net assets,

financial position and results of operations in the

annual financial statements in accordance with (Ger-

man) principles of proper accounting and in the man-

agement report are detected with reasonable assur-

ance. Knowledge of the business activities and the

economic and legal environment of the Company and

expectations as to possible misstatements are taken

into account in the determination of audit proce-

dures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related

internal control system and the evidence supporting

the disclosures in the books and records, the annual

financial statements and the management report are

examined primarily on a test basis within the frame-

work of the audit. The audit includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates

made by the Company’s Management Board, as well

as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual

financial statements and management report. We

believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for

our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit, the

annual financial statements comply with the legal

requirements and supplementary provisions of the

articles of incorporation and give a true and fair view

of the net assets, financial position and results of

operations of the Company in accordance with (Ger-

man) principles of proper accounting. The manage-

ment report is consistent with the annual financial

statements and as a whole provides a suitable view

of the Company's position and suitably presents the

opportunities and risks of future development.

Essen, 27 February 2007

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

M. Theben ppa. D. Fouquet

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüferin

[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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